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LIVES

oF

INDIAN OFFICERS.

SIR ALEXANDER BURNES
[BORN 1805.—DIED 184t] 1 % !

ExtrriNG upon the last vear of the last century, a youth Montrose.
from the Scoteh borough of Montrose, who had gone up to
London to seck his fortune, wrote to his mother, saying: 1
have passed many a serious hour, reflecting on, weighing,
examining minutely, the advantages and disadvantages, which
are likely to follow my conduct in the difterent plans proposed,
and I find the result in favour of going to India on the esta-
Dlishment.  Perhaps my wishes to obtain, or my favourable
ideas ofy that situation have biased my judgment, and pre-
vented me from sceing every circumsts nee as it ought to have
been seeny so I will say little more on the subject, except to
inform you of what distresses me greatlv, but will perhaps
please you—viz. the uncertainty of succeeding as I could
wish,”  The letter, from which this extract is taken, is signed
“Your loving and atfectionate Son, Josern Hume.”

Twenty years afterwards, the writer, who had been thus
doubttul of his power to obtain an appointment on the Indian
establishment for himself, was able to obtain appointments
for others. He had become a man of great influence in his
native town. He had gone out to India poor, and he had re-
turned rich, whilst still in the very prime of his life. He had
returned to take a distinguished part in public affairs, with
{hirty or forty years of good life and of good service still re-
maining in him. It was a natural and a landable ambition
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2 SIR ALEXANDER BURNES.

00— 1820. that he should seck to represent his native town in the great

- Burnes

ily.

imperial Parliament, and to do for it and its people all the
good that lay in his power; so he canvassed the borough and
its dependencies in the liberal interests, and in 1818 was
duly returned.* .

The success of Joseph Hume was great encouragement. to
the youth of Montrose. He had taken his first start from
a very humble beginning, and he had risen solely by the
force of hix own personal energy.  Might not others do the
same? Moreover, the success of Joseph Hume was some-
thing more than an encouragement to the young men of the
borough, It was an assistance to them.  Ie Tiad become an
influential member of the Court of Proprictors of Last India
Stock, and he had, therefore, “ interest at the India House.”
It must he admitted that for very many vears what was
familiarly called “ borough-mongering,”™ was the main cause
of 5o many donghty young Scots finding their way into the
Indian services.  Practically, this was a happy circumstance,
At all events, it bore good fruit. But for this, the Company’s
army might have been wanting in that muscular sinewy
strength imparted to it by a constant recruiting from the
middle elasses of the North.  The Seoteh member, in esse
or in posse, may have thought about nothing bhut his seat ;
hut it was often his good fortune “to entertain angels wun-
aware,” and to count among the happy circumstances of his
life that he had “sent to India™ a Malcoln, an Ochterlony,
or a Munro.

Some of these happy civeumstances were recalled with
pleasure and with gratitude at the close of a well-spent. life
by Mr. Joseph Hume,  Of one of tham T am now about o
write. In the first quarter of the present century there
dwelt at Montrose a tamily bearing the name of Burnes. The
family was of the same stock as that from which had sprung
the inspired ploughman of Ayrshire, though the two branches
of the family were pleased to spell their names after difterent,
fashions. The grandfather of Robert Burns, the poet, and
the grandfather of James Burnes, writer to the signet, bur-

* The Montrose Burghs then in- previously represented Weymouth in
cluded Montrose, Brechin, Arbroath, DParliament.
Bervie, and Aberdeen.  Mr. Hume had



THE BURNES FAMILY. 3

goss of Montrose, and head of the family of which I am now
writing, were brothers. In the first year of the century,
James Burnes married a daughter of Adam Glegg, chief
magistrate of Montrose, and in due course had fourteen
children, nine of whom lived to be adults. Of these nine
children the four 2ldest were sons.  The first-horn was named
James, after his father; the second Adam, after his maternal
grandfather; the third Robert; and the fourth Alexander,
after whom called T know not, but there could have been no
better name for one who was destined to do great things in
the countries watered by the Indus and bounded by the Cau-

asinn range.  He often used to say, in later duvx, that he
found his name & help to him.  In Afchanistan he was always
known as “ Sckunder Burnes,” and Sckunder (Alcxzmder)
has been a great name in that part of the world ever since the
great dayvs of the Greek occupation.

Mr. James Burnes w as, I have said, a burgess of Montrose.
He was a man greatly respected by the townspeople, both for
his integrity and ability, and he came to be provost of the
borough, and recorder or town-clerk.  For many vears he
touk an active part in the local politics of the place, and there

were fow places in which Tocal polities oceupied so much of

the time and the thoughts of the good people of a country
town.  The influence of Provost Burnes was, of course, great
in the borough. Tt was no small thing tor a candidate for the
representation of Montrose and its de} endencies to have the
Burnes iterest on his side.  He was not a man to forsake
lis prineiples for gain; but there was no reason why, with
four stout clever boys pressing forward for employment, and
eager to make their fortunes, he should not endeavour to turn
his influence 1o good account for the benefit of his children.
He was very useful to Mr. Hume, and Mr. Hume, in turn,
was well disposed to bu useful to the family of Burnes. In
truth, the tide of liberul politics was somewhat high and heady
at that time; and even the children of the worthy burgess’s
household were no indifferent observers of pussing events, but
had their bursts of political excitement like their elders. The
acquittal of Queen Caroline produced as great a fervour of
exultation in that distant seaport town as it did in West-
minster or Hammersmith; and one of the Burnes boys, who
B 2
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4 SIR ALEXANDER BURNES.

had at a very carly age habituated himself to keep a diary,
then recorded in its pages: ¢ November 14, 1820. News
came of the rojection by the House of Lords of the Bill of
Pains and Penaltics against the Queen. No schooling on
account of it. . . . November 15. A most prilliant illumina-
tion took place in Montrose and the surrounding neighbour-
hood, on account of the glorious triumph the Queen had
obtained over her base and abominable accusers.  Many
dovices were exhilited, one in the Town-hall with a green
hag all tattered and torn: in another window, a figure of the
Queen, with the word ¢ Triumphant,” and aboveit ¢ C. IR The
display of fireworks was unlimited. Two boats were burned,
and some tar-barrels, and upon the whole it did great credit
to Montrose.”

The writer of this journal was Alexander Burnes, the third
surviving son, then fitteen years of age, and a student in
the Montrose Academy, the head-master of which, My, Cal-
vert, had something more than a local reputation as a dis-
tinguished classical scholar and a highly suceesstul teacher—
as men taught in those days with the hook in one hand and
the scourge in the other.  He was a clever, in some respects,
perhaps, a precocious boy: and had learnt as much in the
way, hoth of classies and of mathematies, as most promising
striplings of his age. He had read, too, some Dooks of
history, and a few of the masterpicces of English poetry.
IIe belonged to a debating society, and was not altogether
unskilled in disputation.  Like other high-spirited bovs, he
had taken part in conflicts of a more dangerous character
than mere conflicts of words, and fought some hard hattles
with the boys of the town.  Altogether, though not to be ac-
counted a prodigy, he.avas a youth of high spirit and good
promisc, and had in him some of the stuft of which heroes
are made.

But I can find nothing in the record of Alexander Burnes’s
carly life to warrant the conelusion that the bent of his mind
towards foreign travel was then in any way discernible. What
little T can find in his papers rather bears the other way. 1
have before me a collection, in his own writing, of the speeches
he delivered at the ¢ Montrose Juvenile Debating Society,”
the thesis of one of which (proposed by himselt) is, ¢ Whether
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reading or travelling is most advantageous for the acquisition
of knowledge ?” To this the ¢ juvenile debater” replied : ¢ My
opinion on the present subject is, that reading is the most ad-
vantageous for the noquisition of knowledge.”  And then he
proceeded to illugtrate this opinion, by rcadmw to the meeting
an interesting extract from the wcent]y pubhshed travels of
the £ frican h.nel]cr, Belzoni.  Having done this, he said:
“ Now, to have it In our power to amuse ourselves any night
we please with the book which contains all these disasters,
without the Inhour which has been encountered, shows in the
clearest light the advantages derived trom that most delightful
and pleasing amusement, reading.”  This is dmrmuw]v illo-
gical.  The young debater forgot, in his enthusiastic ulmn. 1-
tion of the book that had given him <o much pleasure, that
there could have heen no *“reading™ in this case if” there had
heen no “travelling.”  Certainly it would have been difficult
to cite a more unfortunate illustration of the views of the
juvenile speaker. It is possible that when, in after life, he
ame to gather up his ideas a little more compactly, he he-
thought himself of the mistake he had made, and remembered
that it is an essential condition to the © acquizition of know-
ledge™ from hooks of travel like Belzoni’s, that there should
he Belzonis to write them.

Neither, mdeed, is there .anything to indicate that the
desires ot voung Alexander Burnes at that time turned
towards a life of military adventure in the castern or the
western worlds,  Of the hundreds of eadets who year after
year went out to India at that time in the service of the East
India Company, only an exceptional fow were moved by
any impulses of their own to cnter the Indian army. The
choice was commonly made for them as a matter of con-
venienee by their parents or guardians ; and the case of Alex-
ander Burnes was to exception to the rule.  The success of
Mr., Hume was that which decided the choice of the worthy
burgess of Montrose, for it afforded at once a great encourage-
ment and & material aid. The cldest hope of the Burnes
family, James, was destined for the medical service—that
service in which Mr. Hume had so rapidly made a fortune—
and was pursuing his studies in London, with a view to an
Indian carcer. Adam, the second, was training for the law in

1820,
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6 SIR ALEXANDER BURNES,

his native burgh. And Alexander, by the assistance of Mr.
Hume, was to be provided with a cadetship, as soon as he was
old enough to take up the appointment. When, therefore,
the young student was within a few weeks from the com-
pletion of his sixteenth year, he was sent uj to London in a
Dundee smack; and having arrived there on the 14th of
March, 1821, he was o the following day introduced by Mr.
Hume to Mr. Stanley Clerk, a member of the Court of
Directors, and was told that his name had been duly entered
for a cadetship of infantry on the estublishment of Bombay.
He spent two months in London, studying under the well-
known Oriental professor, Dr. Gilehrist, and watched over by
Mr. Joseph Hume, who gave him good advice of all kinds,
and acted ax his hanker; and then, on the 16th of May—This
birthday—he attende at the India House, and formally took
the oath of allegiance,

It wac a matter of plensant fumily arrangement that the
eldest brother, James Burnes, who had been appointed an
assistant-surgeon on the Bombay establishment, should sail in
the same vessel with Alexander; so they embarked together,
carly in June, on hoard the good <hip Sarah. — Of this voyage
there are abundant records in the young cadet’s journal, many
passages of which exhibit considerable discernment of cha-
racter, and no slight powers of deseription.  But it must
suffice here to state that, after an uneventful voyage, the
Sarah arrived at her destination, and that, on the 21st of
October, 1821, these two young Montrosians found them-
selves on the heach of Bombay, with very little money in

Jtheir pockets, and with very slender interest; but with stout

hearts, clear heads, and that determination to make for {hem-
selves careers in the public service which, in the days of the
East India Company, carried so many members of our middle
classes in India straight on to fortune and to fame.

The brothers were soon separated.  On the 13th of No-
vember, James Burnes was gazetted to do duty as an assistant-
surgeon with the Artillery at Maloongah.  Four days before
this, Alexander’s name had appeared in General Orders, hy
which he was posted to do duty with the 1st Battalion of the
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3rd Regiment of Native Infantry at Bombay. On the 19th,
he recorded in his journal that he had ¢ commenced his mili-
tary carcer,” and nppcured on parade. From that day he
made steady progress in his profession. He applied himself
sedulously to thescultivation of the native languages.  He had
continued on hourd slup the studies which hc lmd commenced
under Dr. Gilehrist in London, and now he supplemented his
literary pursuits by making and steadily adhering to the rule,
to converse with his native servants only in Hmdostaneo and
on the 8thof December he wrote in his journal: ¢ Ever since
I ordered my servants to address me in Hindostanee I find my
improvement very great, and 1 am persuaded that there is no
method more effectual in acquiring the Janguage than the one
Lam at present |>m\um , for it unites the theoretical and the
practical.  Having migrated trom my own country, and being

rather of o curious and searching dhpmmnn, 1 have begun to
eain as much information concerning the manners, castoms,
laws, and religions of this people—a study not only amusing
and interesting, but highly instruetive; for what ix it that
makes a man, but a knowledge of men and manners ¥ There
waus nothing which o man might not achieve in India, who

thus set himselt” to work in the right way.  There was proof

of this even then before the voung “ unposted ensign.”  He
had carried out with him, as most young men carry out,
letters of introduction to the Governor and other influential
people of the Presidency.  The Governor at that time was
Mr. Momntstuart Elphinstone, whose kindness and  affability
of munner won the heart of the young soldier at once.  *The
Governor,” he wrote home to his family at Montrose, ¢ re-
ceived us with great politeness, and invited us to the most
splendid féte I had ever beheld, and did not behave in a ¢ How
do? manner, but was extremely affable and polite, which,
among a party of « hundred, and for the most part generals
and great men, was a great deal. . . . A few weeks ago a
erand public ball was given to Sir John Maleoln, on his
leaving India,* to whuh 1 had the honour of receiving an in-
vitation; but where it came from I know not. It was, if
anything, grander than Mr. Llphmatone s fote, and held in a
house built for the purpose, about the size of the old Council

* Sec ante, Memoir of Sir John Maleolm, vol. i page 211,

1821



8 SIR ALEXANDER BURNES.

121—22.  House at Montrose, illuminated with lamps from top to bottom.”
There must have been something in all this greatly to inspire
and encourage the young b(,otch subaltern, for Maleolm him-
self had risen from the same small beginning, and now his
name was in every man’s mouth, and all were delighting to
do him honour.  What might not any voutg Scof, wlth the
right stuft’ in him, do in Indm/ In all divections tllm ¢ was
encouragement and assurances not likely to be thrown away
upon & youth of young Burnes’s lively imagination. A Mon-
trose man had sent him out to India; an Edinburgh man was
now at the head of the Government of Bombay ; a Glasgow
man was Governor of the Madras Presidency ; and now the
son of an Eskdale farmer was receiving the plaudits of all
classes of his countrvinen, and returning for a while to his
native land, a successtul soldier and a successtul statesman,
amidst a whirl of popularity that might have fully satistied
the desires of the most ambitious hero in the world,

But to young Alexander Burnes the encouragements of the
future were aot greater than the consolations o the present.
1 like the country amazingly,” he wrote to Montrose, * and
as yet am not at all desivous of a return to my own Jaud.
Here T have everything to be wished for—plenty of time to
myself, a gentlemanly commanding officer, and several very
pleasant brother-officers.™  But he added, for thoughts of
home were still pulling at his heart, “lmw dearly should 1
like to sce little Charley or Ceeilia trudging into my canvas
abode—bhut, ah! that is far heyond prubdblllt). However,
I may yet sce Charley in India, for he seems a boy made
for it.”

Thoughts of active service soon began to stir his mind.
There was a prospect of a war with (Jlun.m, and the voung
soldier was eager to take part in it. ¢ There has been o most
dreadful disturbance,” he wrote to his parents, on the 30th of
April, 1822, ¢ between the powers of China and the East
India Company within these few months; so all trade between
these countPes is now at a stop, and nothing scems more
inevitable than war, for it is in everybody’s mouth, and every
person is anxious to go. I hope I may be sent. If I am not
sent along with my regiment, I shall certainly volunteer; for
if a man does not push on he will never see service, and, of
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course, will never be an officer worth anything. What will
the poor old maids of Montrose do for want of tea?”’ Dut
the excitement passed away. There was no war. And so
young Alexander Burnes fell back peacefully on his Oriental
studies, and witlesuch good success, that at the beginning of
May, 1822, he went up for an examination in Hm(,lostaneo,
and .»lmd that he passed for an interpretership. I was so
delighted,” he wrote in his journal, *‘that 1 could scarcely

182

contain myself.” A fortnight before, he had been posted to April 16

the 2nd Battalion of the 11th Regiment of Native Infantry,
but as the interpretership of that regiment was not vacant, he
applied, without success, to be removed to another corps.
Any dizappointment, however, which he might have felt about
this was soon removed by the necessities of action; for a few
davs afterwards his regiment was ordered to Poonah, which a
few vears before had heen the capital of the Peishwal, and
was still in the bloom ot its historical associations. It was
with no common interest that hie repeatedly visited the battle-
ficld of Khirkee. ** The plain where the cavaley of the Peishwalu
charged 1 galloped over,™ he wrote in his journal, “and I can
scarcely Imagine a hetter place for cavalry to act than this,
for searcelv a nullalt intersects it.”"*

The time passed very pleasantly at Poonah. ¢ It is a most
delightful place,” he wrote, ** and I like the Decean amazingly.
1 ]mw Jjoined the 2nd ]).ltf’t]l()ll of the 11th Bombay Native
Infantey, which in pmut of (11\(_‘11)1!110 is not sulpassed by any
regiment in the serviee. . . . In point of officers there was
never, perhaps, o more gentlemanly and pleasant set of men
assembled together in an Indian Native Corps—in a word, 1
have got into a regiment that delights me, and naturally makw
my time pass del whtfull\. ... Governor Elphinstone was
then at Poonaly, coutr.butum by his hospitalities to the general
happiness, and stmlulntmn' th(, vouth of the station, by lm ex-
amplo, to deeds of heroie q)ortsnmnslup. Here young Burnes
fleshed his maiden spear during a hog-hunt of three days’
duration. Here, too, he bcmu the qtudy of the Persian
language. T have been strenuom]v advised to begin Per-
sian,” le wrote to Lis friends at Montrose, “as it w111 im-
proye my Hindostance, and, perhaps, add greatly to my

* See ante, Memoir of Mountstuart Elphinstone, vol. i.
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822—23. future prospects in India; so I have commenced it.” And
he prosecuted the study with such good effect, that, after a
few months, he was able to derive intense gratification from
the perusal of the Persian poets. Before the end of the
month of September he thus pleasantly reposted his progress :
¢ My bedroom is small, and brings often to my recollection
my old little closet in the passage, for as it is my study
I spend a great deal of time in it, and have managed to
scribble pieces of poetry on its walls also; but they are now
of a different language, for I have got quite cunmonred of
Persian poetry, which is really, for sound and evervthing,
like a beautiful song—instead ot Lallak Rookh in the lnn;_:lwh,
I have got a Lallah Rookk in the Persian—at least a much
more beautiful poem.”

eregimental  In December, the regiment quitted Poonalt en route for

it Surat. At Bombay, where they halted, Alexander Burnes
again made a push for an interpretership, and this time with
good success; for on the Tth of January, 1823, his name ap-
peared in General Orders, gazetted as interpreter of the Ist
Extra Bautalion, which happencd to be pu\'ted at Surat.  Ile
was, with one exception, the only ensign in the Bombay Army
who held such an appointment.  This was great promotion
but in the following yeur a brighter prospect still expanded
before the young soldlu. On Lhe general reorganisation of
the army, by \\]lldl cach batta]mn was converted into a
separate regiment, with a scparate regimental staff, Licu-
tenant Durnes, then little more than ecighteen years old,
was offered the regimental adjutancy.  The offer excited him
greatly, and he wrote: ““Dehold your son Alexander the
most fortunate man on carth for his years! Behold him
Licutenant and Adjutant Burnes of the 21st Regiment, on
an allowance of from five hundred to six hundred rupees a
month.”  The appointment had been offered to him by his
friend Colonel Campbell. ¢ Ho did not think,” wrote Burnes
to Montrose, ¢ that 1 would accept the situation, for my life
in India has been so much devoted to study, that he conceived,
and correctly too, that I was aiming at some political situation,
1 soon undeceived him, by telling him that 1 found my nlnlltlcs'
greatly turned to that direction, hut that, nevertheless, T wa
ready for anything else. . . . No man in his sound sonses
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would refuse a situation of fifty or sixty guineas a month.”*
The breaking up of the old regiment was, however, a source
of no little "‘I’l(‘f to ]um, and a like feeling prevailed among
all the best ofh('(,rs in the army. “1 (:ou]d little t.o]crate
this,” said Burnts, “for I had become in a great degree
attached to the nien; but I less rocrr(xttcd it as my brother-
offic s were all to ace ompany me.”  This reorganisation gave
a blow to the discipline of the whole army, from which it
never recovered.

From the journals which he kept in this year, a lively im-
pression may be gained of the voung soldier’s state of mind.
A conviction was growing upon him that, notwithstanding
arly backwardness, there was some good cultivable ground in
his nature, and that ~ome day he would make for himself a
name.  He had conceived a desive to visit other Eastern
countries, and was assiduously studying their languages. Like
many others at that dangerous period of dawning manhood,
he was haunted with strange doubts concerning both lis
material and spiritual being, and fancied that he was doomed
to di young and to lapse into unbelief.  There are few carnest
inquiring minds that have not been subjected to that early
blight of scepticism. A few passages from his diary will
illustrate all these mental and moral phases. ¢ July 24
I tind it frequently the case that dull, or rather muldhnrr, boys
at school shine more in the world than those who are always
at the head, and exquisite scholars, . . . . 1 am the only
illiterate man in my family—all professions but me. Never
mind—quite content. A soldier's life permits of much spare
time, which [ amimproving.” ¢ September 2. I'reckon three
years more will make me @ Persian scholar, and five more will
give me a tolerable knowledge of Arabie.  Before many more
months elapse, I purp.ose making a visit to Persia, and, if pos-
sible, Arabia; that s to say, if my circumstances will allow,
as I feel confident of remaining amongst the inferior class of
linguists if T do not go to the country.” ¢ September 3. 1
have been ruminating on the probablht\ of accomplishing the
above project, and if T continue saving 50 rupecs a month, as

* In this letter Alexander Burnes took to guarantee the payment of all
again urged his father to send out his  cexpenses.
brother Charles in the army, and under-
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I do at present, I may in time accumulato something ; but it
is s0 expensive studying, that that keeps me from saving what
Lought. . . . . Texpect to reach the height of preferment in
this service, and only think my short life will hinder me from
it.”  “September 4. . . . . If a speedy réwn to my native
land (say ten years) bonot effocted, I can enfertain little hopes
of living to an aged man. In constitution I may be robust, in
body I am very weak, slender, and ill made, and if it he true,
as 1 have often heard them say, ¢ I was horn before my time.’
This they tell me, and as my grandfuther’s house was the
place of my birth, I hegin to think so.  If this Is the case, it
accounts for my shape. I was very small when born, and,
indeed, so much so, that they baptised me three days after my
birth, that I might not dic nameless, which, according to
superstitious people, is bad. T am difterent from all avound
me. I dislike all gymmastic and athletic exercises. 1 like
arqument much—a jolly party only now and then; much
study, and am very partial to historv, but dislike novels
extremely, even Scott’s, My abilities are confined, but as my
mind expands they scem to improve. I was very dull at
school, and reckoned a dolt. 1 ought not to have been w
soldier, although I glory in the profession, for I am too fond
of pen and ink.” ¢ Reptember 21, 1 have of Tate heen deeply
pondering in my own mind the strange opinions I hegin to
imbibe about religion, and which grow stronger every day.
«« .« Would to God my mind were settled on this truly im-
portant subject ! Could 1 he convineed fully of it, Iwould not
helieve in a future state, but it is an improbuble thing to
imagine God has made man gifted with reason, after his own
image, and yet to perish, It is madness to dream of it. My
ideas may be very barbarous, hut I do not see thal a man’s
happiness can be increased by his knowing there is a tribunal.
« « .+ . Ilead a happy life, much more so than the gencrality
of my companions, but I entertain different ideas of religion
daily, and am afraid they will end in my baving no religion at
all. A fatalist I am, but no atheist. No, nor even a deist.
No—what shall I call it ?—a sceptical blockhéad, whose head,
filled with its own vanities, imagines itself more capable than
it is.”  “October 16. My second year in India being now on
the eve of completion, I think it full timo to remit money to
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my father in Europe ; consequently sent a hoondee to Bombay
for 246 rupees to Messrs. R. and Co., which, with former re-
mittances, makes up a sum somewhat short of 50/, This I
have desired to be transmitted home to my father directly, or
to J. Hume, Esqq M.P., for him. . . . . .. I am thinking
within myself how very gratifying this will be to my father,
who could not certainly expect much from me, and particularly
at present, when I am on reduced allowances.”

The power of gratifying this laudable desire to remit money
to his family in Lnermd was well-nigh checked at the outset
by what might have been a serious nnsad\ enture, for which
he would have long reproached himself.  In those days there
was still a good de‘tl of gambling in the army, and in a luck-
less hour young Durnes was induced to play at hazard. He
thus records the incident in his journal: ¢ October 17. ¢1
have lost a day.”  This day my feelings were put more to the
test than any other day during my existence. G and H.
alled in upon me in the morning, and as we are all very fond
of cards, it was proposed by G. to play at hazard. I declined,
on the plea, first, of its heine daytime ; and secondly, on its
heing too much of a gambling game for me.  The ﬁlst I gave
up, being master of the ]muw, and in the second I \'leldod
pm\ulwl the stakes were low. A quarter of a rupee was pro-
posed, and we got on very well for some time, till G., be-
ginning to lose, went very high.  This induced me also. I
lost 1500 rupees, and it was on the' increase every turn up of
the cards. It was proposed at this time (it being past the
dinner-hour) to give up after our rounds. H. and G. played,
and I reduged it to about 800 rupees. My turn came, and I
lost. T was upwards of 1000 rupees in arrear.  G. proposed
once more. I agreed. I gained from H. and G., and when
it came to my turn, 1 owed 500 rupees. 1 dealt out the cards.
G. gave me a card, and went 50 rupees on ten cards at table,
and lost 350 rupees.” The upshot of the game was, that
Burnes regained his money, and found himself with a balance
of 13 rupees in his favour. But he had won much more than
this. 1 have got such a moral lesson,” he added, “that I
never intend handling cards at a round game for some time,
and T am ashamed of myself, and shall ever be so. ¢ I've lost
a day.” I could scarcely place the cards on the table, I got so

182:
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nervous. No wonder. I had at that time lost my pay for half
a year. Had Ilost 1500 rupees, where would my prospects
of sending money to my dear father have heen? What is
more than all, these gamblings derange my head and prevent
me bestowing proper attention on my Persian studies.”

He gambled no more after this, but continued to apply
himself steadily to the study of the native languages and to
his military duties ; and he soon made rapid progress in his
profession.  In 1825 there were threatenings of war with the
Ameers of Sindh. There had been a repetition of those border
forays which might have resulted in the devastation of Cutch,
and a British force was equipped for the coercion of the
marauders.  To this force Alexander Burmes was attached as
Persian Interpreter, and he was afterwards appointed to the
Quartermaster-General's department, which permanently re-
moved him from the sphere of regimental duty. Writing
from Bhooj to his early friend and patron, Joseph Hume, in
July, 1825, he gave the following account of lis condition and
prospects : o You must yourself be well ac qu'untv(l with the
present state of India to the castward, and 1 can give you no
more favourable accounts regarding the Bombay l’w\ulcnc\,
as a cessation of hostilities at Burmah can only he the sienal
for a declaration of war with the Amcers of Sindh, our north-
woestern neighbours, I can, perhaps, inform you of some par-
ticulars which may prove interesting regarding this and the
adjacent provinee of India.  About four or five vears ago the
nobles of Cuteh called in the British Government to assist
them in deposing their Rao (King), who had rendered himself
very odious by the most wanton cruelty.  Their ggquest met

Government regarding the propriety of

* This letler was written primarily
reducing Bhurtpore  has  given him

to acknowledge the receipt of a letter of

introduction to Sir David Ochterlony,
which Mr. Hume had sent to the writer.
As illustrative of a passage at page 416,
vol. i. (Memoir of Sir Charles Metcalfe),
the following may, perhaps, be read
with interest: “I had the pleasure to
receive your letter of August, 1824,
enclosing one to Sir David ( )chL(-rlom,
and beg leave to express my sincere
thanks for the interest you have taken
in my behalf. T took the earliest op-
portunity to forward it to the General,
but his unfortunate quarrel with the

enough to do, and fully accounts for no
answer being received,  Sir David s
much regretted, and it seems to be the
general opinion that it was a very im-
politic meusure to abandon the campaign
when so overwhelming an army was
encamped berore the fort.  Our mis-
fortunes in 1800, when under the wally
of Bhurtpore, are still fresh in the re-
collection of the natives, and this has
given thew, if possible, additional pre-
sumption,”



ON THE GENERAL STAFF. 15

with the approbation of our Government; the Rao was de-
posed, and his son raised to the musnud, with a Regency of
five persons, of which the British Resident is one. A subsi-
diary force of two regiments was established, and the Cutch
Durbar agreed to pay half. In April, 1825, a body of marauders
mvaded the provisee from Sindh, but they were not entirely
natives of that country, many of the discontented of this pro-,
vince having joined them. Be it sufficient to say that there
was little or no doubt of their having received great support
from Sindh. They plundered the w holc of the country around
Bhooj, and, from the insufliciency of our force, actually cut
up six hundred of the Rao’s horse within four miles of camp.
There being little doubt but that Sindh was at the bottom of
it, some time elapsed hefore any attempt was made to dislodge
them, it being considered prudent to wait the arrival of troops.
Another native regiment and some regular cavalry have been
added to the brigade; and Captain Pottinger, the Resident,
has just told me that a letter has arrived from our agent at
Hyderabad mentioning the march of a division of the Sindhian
army. chiefly composed ot Beloochees, and amounting to four
or tive thousand men, and every hour confirms the report. A
third treaty with thix nation may be patched up, but a war is
inevitable ere long, and the want of ofticers and troops will be
the cause of much expense to the Company. . ... I am
proud to say that the same good fortune which I had at the
commencement of my carcer scems still to attend me, and that
the late disturbances in Cuteh have elevated me from the
regimental to the general Staff, having been appointed
Quarterntygter of Brigade to the Cutch Field Force.  If you
were to inquire of me how this has come about, I could not
tell you, for [ hardly know myself. The Brigadier of the
station (Colonel Dysom) sent for me while I was Acting
Adjutant in April I t, and asked me if I would become his
intorpreter and Stafl, vacating my own acting appointment
under the hope of Government confirming his nomination. As
I was only an Acting Adjutant, I consented, and fortunately
L am confirmed in one of the appointments, which makes my
pay and allowances 400 rupees a month. 1 should have liked
the interpretership, but as the Staff is 400 rupees alone, I am
very fortunate, and have every probability of retaining the



16 SIR ALEXANDER BURNES.

1826—29. situation for & long time, although it is only styied a temporary
arrangement. If Sindh is invaded, an officer in the Quarter-
master-General’s department has a grand field opened to him.
My pecuniary concerns are thus in a very thriving way. 1
have already sent home 2501, and have morg at my command.
T am 5001 better off than any of my shipmates, whose letters
of credit were in general five times the amount of mine, but
then I have been very fortunate. I am not indebted in any
way to the Governor, and the Commander-in-Chief has de-
prived mo of both Quartermastership and Adjutancy, when
recommended both times hy the Commanding Officer, and the
latter time by a Lieutenant-Colonel even. 1 must contess that
chance must have done much for me against such opposition,
but I am also greatly indebted to Colonel Leighton, who has
always stood by me.”

In & later letter the story is thus resumed @ “ 1 continued
my study of the languages,” he wrote to an old schoolfellow in
the West Indies, ““and mastered the Persian, which brought
me to the notice of Government, and I was selected trom the
army to he Persian interpreter to a field foree of eight thousand
men, under orders to cross the Indus and attack the territory
of Sindh, which is situated at the delta of that great river, . .,
The force to which I was attached did not advance; the ¢ m-
paign terminated in 18255 hut during its continuance T lhad,
in the absence of other duty, devoted my time to surveving
and geography, and produced a map of an unknown track,
for which Government rewarded me by an appointment to the
department of the Quartermaster-General—the most enviable
line in the service, It removed me for good and all, hefore 1
had been four years in the serviec; from every sort of regi-
mental duty. I advanced in this department step by step,
and was honoured hy the approbation of my superiors, In
1828 they raised me to be Assistant-Quartermaster-General
of the Army, and transferred me to head-quarters at Bombay,
on a salary of eight hundred rupees a month. Thero I met
Sir John Malcolm, of whom you 1aay have heard. I knew
him not, but I volunteered to explore the Indus from where
it is joined by the Punjab down to the ocean, and thus de-
lighted the men in authority. I started at the ond of 1829
on this hazardous undertaking, and after I had got half
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through, it was recalled by Lord Bentinck, as it would have
involved political difficulties at the moment. I did, however,
so much, that I blush to sound my own praises. The sub-
stantial part of them is, that they have removed me entirely
to the diplomatit. line, as assistant to the Resident in Cutch,
which is a foreign state, in alliance with the British, close on
the Indus. It is difficult to draw a parallel between European
and Indian situations; but, if one is to be made, I am what is
called Secretary of Legation, and on the high road, though I
say it myself, to office, emolument, and honour. I have now
briefly sketched out my career. My pursuits are purely lite-
rary, and confined to investigating the antiquities of Asia and
the wonders of this people. I have been tracing the mag-
nanimous Alexander on his Quixotic journey to these lands;
and I shall set out at the end of 1830 to traverse further
regions, which have been untrodden since the Greeks of
Macedon followed their leader. Being an accredited agent
of the Government, I have their support in all these wander-
ings; so you sec that I have hung the sword in the hall, and
entered the Cabinet as a civilian. . . . My great ambition,”
he said, “is to travel. I am laying by a few spare rupees to
feed my innocent wishes, and could I but have a companion
like you, how doubly joyous would I roam among the ruins
of the capitol, the relics of classic Athens, and the sombre
grandeur of Egypt! These, and il the countries near them,
are in mypind’s eye; I think, I dream of them; and when
I journey to my native land, my route will traverse them all
1 purpose landing at Berenice on the Red Sea, and, following
the Nile in its course across from classic to sacred lands, cross
the plains of Syria and sbout Mount Sinai; thence, by Asia
Minor, to the Hellespont and Greece, Italy, and merry France
and last of all to my native Scotia. I have enough of the
good things of this life to start on this projected tour, when
my ten years of service are out—that is, on the 31st of Oc-
tober, 1831.”

But it was ordained by Providence that his journeyings
should be quite in a different direction. In the early part of
1830, a despatch arrived at Bombay, from the Board of Con-
trol, enclosing & letter of compliment from the President, Lord
Ellenborough, to Runjeet Singh, ?m great ruler of the Punjab,

YO&. IL. c :
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together with a batch of horses that were to be forwarded to
his Highness as a present from the King of England. It was
necessary that the letter and the horses should be forwarded to
Lahore, under the charge of a British officer. Sir John Mal-
colm was at this time Governor of Bombay, He was full of
enterprise and enthusiasm; he had himself been a great tra-
veller; and he was the one of all others to appreciate the
achievements and to sympathise with the aspirations of such
a man as Alexander Burnes. He accordingly recommended
the young Bombay Lieutenant for this important duty, and
the Supreme Government readily endorsed the recommenda-
tion. But although the man had been chosen, and chosen
wiscly, there was much discussion respecting the manner of
the mission and its accompaniments, and very considerable
official delay. ¢ It is part of Sir Joln Maleolm’s plan for the
prosecution of my journey,” wrote Burnes to the family at
Montrose, in September, 1830, ¢ that I quit Bombay before
the Government make any arrangements for my vovage up
the Indus to Lahore.” In these dayvs we know every foot of
the ground, and such a journcy as Burnes was about to an-
dertake belongs only to the regions of common-place; but
when Burnes, at this time, wrote about ¢ the noble prospects
which awaited him in being selected for a delicate and hazardous
duty,” he by no means exaggerated the fact. He was em-
phatically the Pionecer, and he had to cut and clear his way
through briary difliculties and obstructions which have long
since disappeared.  He was not merely sent upon a compli-
mentary mission to the ruler of the Punjub; he was directed
also to explore the countries on the Lower Indus, and to this
end he was entrusted with presents to the Ameers of Sindh,*

* If I were writing history, not bio-
graphy, I should comment upon the
error of this. As it is, I cannot resist
quoting the following from a minute of
Sir Charles Metcalfe, recorded in Octo-
ber, 1830 : “ The scheme of surveying
the Indus, under the pretence of sending
a present to Runjeet Singh, scems to me
highly objectionable. It is a trick, in
my opinion, unworthy of our Govern-
ment, which cannot fail, when detected,
as most probably it will be, to excite
the jealousy and indignation of the
powers on whom we play it. It is just

such a trick as we are often falsely sus-
pected and accused of Ly the native
Princes of India, and this contirmation
of their suspicions, generally unjuat,
will do more injury, by furnishing the
ground of merited reproach, than any
advantage to be gained by the measure
can compensate. It is not impossible
that it may iead to war. I hope that
80 unnecessary and ruinous a calamity
may not befal us, Yet, as our officers,
in the prosecution of their clandestine
pursuits, may meet with insult or ill
treatment, which we may choose to
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But the Ameers were mistrustful of our designs. They be-
lieved that Burnes had come to spy the nakedness of the land.
With all the clearness of prophecy, they saw that for the
English to explore their country, was some day for them to
take it.  So thed threw all sorts of impediments in the way
of Burnes’s advance. ¢ We quitted Cutch,” he wrote to Sir
Johmn Maleolm, ¢ on the 20th of January, 1831, and encoun-
tered every imaginable difficulty and opposition from the
Amcers of” Sindh.  They first drove us forcibly out of the
country,  On a second attempt they starved us out.  But I
was not even then prepared to give up hopes, and 1 ulti-
mately gained the ohjects of pursuit by protracted negotia-
tions, and vovaged safelyv and suecesstully to Lahore.”  After
lie had onee entered the Punjab, his journev, indeed, was
gquite v ovation, My reception in this country,’ he wrote
to his mother, on the last day of JJuly, * has been such as was
to be expeeted from o Prince who his had <o high an honour
conterred on hiim as to receive presents {rom our gracious
Sovereten,  hnmediately that 1T reached his frontier he sent
a uard of horsemen as an honorary excort, and announced
my aerival by asalate of eleven guns from the walls of the
tortresses I passede But what is this to the chief of Bahwal-
pore, lower down, who came all the way to Cuteh to meet
me, and with whom T had an interview, wmouneed by eighty
cans 2 The mission, which had reached Lahore on the 18th
of July, quitted it on the T4th of August; and Burnes pro-
ceeded to Simlahi, to give an account of his embassy in person
to the Governor-General, who was then, with his seeretaries,
residing in that pleasant and salubrious retreat.

Lovd Williim Bentinek reccived the young traveller with
charneteristic kindness, and listened with the deepest interest
to the account of ais adventures.  He listened to the account,
not only of what the voung Bombay Licutenant had done, but
also of what he desired to do. Betore he had started on this
Journey, Burnes had cherished in his heart the project of a
still erander exploration—the exploration which was eventually
to achicve for him fame and fortune. ¢ Thave a vast ambition,”

resent, that result is possible, however  responsible for the policy here denounced.
much to be deprecated.””  The sagacity  He had only to execute the order of the
of this is undeniable; but it is to be Government.

observed that Burnes was in no degree

c?2
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he wrote from the banks of the Jheelum to the ¢ old folks at
home,” ¢“to cross the Indus and Indian Caucasus, and pass by
the route of Balkh, Bokhara, and Samarcand, to the Aral and
Caspian Seas, to Persia, and thence to return by sca to Bom-
bay. All this depends upon circumstances ; put I suspeet that
the magnates of this empire will wish to have the results of my
present journey before I embark upon another.” He was right.
But, having communicated the results of this journey, he
found the Cabinet at Simlah well prepared to encourage
another enterprise of the same charactor, on a grander scale.

¢“The Home Government,” he wrote to his sister, on the 23rd
of September, 1831, “ha\e aot frichtened at the designs of
Russia, and desired that some intelligent officer should he sent
to acquire information in the countries bordering on the Oxus
and the Caspian; and I, knowing nothing of all this, como
forward and volunteer preeisely for what they want.  Lord
Bentinck jumps at it, invites me to come and talk personally,
and gives me comfort in a letter.” 1 quit Loodhianah,” he
said, a few weeks later, “on the Ist of January, 1832, and
proceed by Lahore to Attock, Caubul, Bamecan, Balkh, Bok-
hara, and Khiva, to the Caspian Nea, and from thence to
Astracan. If 1 can but conceal my designs from the officers
of the Russian Government, I <hall pass through their terri-
tory to England, and visit my paternal roof in the Bow
Butts.”

1882, After a few more weeks of pleasant sgjourning with the

!Oumey to vice-regal court, Alexander Burnes . tarted on his long and
hamrdom journey. He received his passports at Delhi two
days before Christmas, and on the 3rd of January, 1832,
crossed the British frontiers, and shook oft’ Western civilisa-
tion. He was accompanied hy a young assistant-surgeon,
named Gerard, who had already carned for himself a name by
his explorations of the Himalayahs, and by two native attachés,
—the one, Mahomed Ali, in the capacity of & surveyor; the
other, a young Cashmerece Mahomedan, educated ut Delbi,
named Mohun Lal, who a('omnpunivd bim as moonshee, or
secretary. Traversing again the country of the “five rivers,”
and making divers pleabamt and profitable explorations ““in the
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footsteps of Alexander the Great,” in the middle of March the
travellers forded the Indus, near Attock, took leave of their
Sikh friends, and became guests of the Afghans. There were
at that time no jealousies, no resentments, between the two
nations. The little knowledge that they had of us, derived
from the fast-fading recollections of Mr. Elphinstone’s mission,
wa: all in our favour; and we in our turn believed them to be
a cheerful, simple-minded, kind-hearted, hospitable people.
Along the whole line of country, from Peshawur to Caubul,
which cannot now be even named amongst us without a
shudder, the English travellers were welcomed as friends.
From the Afghan capital, Burnes wrote, on the 10th of May,
1832, to his mother : ¢ My journey has been more prosperous
than my most sanguine expectations could have anticipated ;
and, instead of jealousy and suspicion, we have hitherto been
caressed and feasted by the chiefs of the country. I thought
Peshawur a delightful place, till I came to Caubul : truly this
is a Paradise.” His fine animal spirits rose beneath the genial
influences of the buoyant bracing climate of Afghanistan.
How happy he was at this time—how full of heart and hope
—may bo gathered from such of his letters as reached his
friends. With what a fine gush of youthful enthusiasm,
writing to the family at Montrose, to which his heart, un-
travelled, was ever fondly turning, he describes his travel-
lifo on this new scene of adventure. “. . . . We travel from
hence in ten days with a caravan, and shall reach Bokhara by
the 1st of July. . .. .. If the road from Bokhara to the
Caspian is interrupted by war, of which there is a chance, I
shall be obliged to pass into Persia, and in that event must bid
farewell to tho hope of socing you, as I must return to India.
The countries north of the Oxub are at present in a tranquil
state, and I do no. despair of reaching Istamboul in safety.
They may seizo mo and sell mo for a slave, but no one will
attack me for my riches. Never was there a more humble
being seen. I have uo tent, no chair or table, no bed, and my
clothes altogether amount to the value of one pound sterling.
You would disown your son if you saw him. My dress is
purely Asiatic, and since I came into Caubul has been changed
to that of the lowest orders of the people. My head is shayed
of its brown locks, and my beard, dyed black, grieves—as the
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Persian poets have it—for the departed beauty of youth. I
now eat my meals with my hands, and greasy digits they are,
though I must say, in justification, that I wash before and
after meals. . . . . I frequently sleep under a tree, but if a
villager will take compassion upon me I entter his house. I
never conceal that I am a European, and I have as yet found
the character advantageous to my comfort. I mnght assume
all the habits and religion of the Mahomedans, since I can
now speak Persian as my own language, but I should have less
liberty and less enjoyment in an assumed garb. The people
know me by the name of Sekundur, which is the Persian for
Alexander, and a magnanimous name it is. With all my
assumed poverty, I have a bag of ducats round my waist, and
bills for as much money as I choose to draw. I gird my loins,
and tie on my sword on all occasions, though I freely admit I
would make more use of silver and gold than of cold steel.
When I go into & company, I put my hand on my heart, and
say with all humility to the master of the house, ¢ Peace bo
unto thee,’ according to custom, and then I squat myself down
on the ground. This familiari ity has given me an 1mmht into
the characber of the people which I never otherwise could havo
acquired. I tell them about stcam-engines, armies, ships,
medicine, and all the wonders of Europe, and, in return, they
enlichten me regarding the customs of their country, its
history, state factions, trade, &c., I all the time appearing in-
different, and conversing thereon ¢ pour passer lo temps.” . . .
The people of this country are kind-hearted and hospitable ;
they have no prejudices against & Christian, and none against
our nation. When they ask me if I eat pork, I of course
shudder, and say that it is only <utcasts who commit such
outrages. God forgive me! for I am very fond of bacon, and
my mouth waters as I write the word. I wish I had some of
it for breakfast, to which I am now about to sit down. At
present I am living with a most amiable man, a Newab,
named Jubbur Khan, brother to the chief of Caubul, and he
feeds me and my companion daily. They understand gastro-
nomy pretty well. Our breakfast consists of pillaw (rice and
meat), vegetables, stews, and preserves, and finishes with
fruit, of which there is yet abundance, though it is ten months’
old.  Apples, poars, quinces, and even melons are preserved,
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and as for the grapes, they are delicious. They are kept in
small boxes in cotton, and are preserved throughout the year.
Our fare, you see, is not so bad as our garb, and like a holy
friar, we have sackcloth outside, but better thmgs to line the
inside. We have, however, no sack or good wine, for I am
too much of a politician to drink wine in a Mahomedan
conntry. . .. . I am well mounted on a good horse, in case
I should find it necessary to take to my hecls. My whole
baggage on carth goes on my mule, over which my servant sits
supercargo ; and with all this long enumeration of my condi-
tion, and the entire sacrifice of all the comforts of civilised life,
I never was in better spirits, and never less under the influence
of ennui. . . . . I cannot tell you how my heart leaps, to sce
all the trees and plants of my native Jand growing around me
in this country.”

When Burnes and his companions quitted Caubul, the
Newab Jubbur Khan, who had hospitably entertained them,
and had endeavoured to persunde them to protract their
sojourn with him, made every possible arrangement for the
continuance of their journey in safety and ('omfort and bade
them ¢ God speed” with a heavy heart. 1 do not think,”
said Burnes, “1 ever took leave of an Asiatic with more
regret than I left this worthy man. He scemed to live for
every onec but himself.” He was known afterwards among our
people by the name of ¢ the Good Newab ;”” and the humanity
of his nature was conspicuous to’ che last.

Having quitted Caubul, the English travellers made their
way to the foot of the Hindoo-Koosh, or Indian Caucasus,
and traversed that stupendous mountain-range to Koondooz,
Kooloom, and Balkh. This was the route explored by those
unfortunate travellers Moorcroft and Trebeck, of whom Burnes
now found many traces, and whose sad history he was enabled
to verify and authenticate. It was a relief to the young Eng-
lishman to find himself in the territory of the King of Bokhara,
whose evil reputation had not been then established. ¢ As we
were now in the territories of a king,” he naively recorded in
the history of his journey, “we could tell him our opinions,
though it had, perhaps, been more prudent to keep them to
ourselves.”

After a sojourn of three days at Balkh, which had many in-
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teresting and some painful associations, for it had been the
capital of the ancient Bactrian kingdom, and a little way
beyond its walls was the grave of Moorcroft, Burnes and his
companions made their way to the city of Bokhara, which
they reached on the 27th of June. There they resided for a
space of nearly four weeks, receiving from the Vizier all pos-
sible kindness and hospitality. ¢ Sekundur,” said he to
Burnes on his departure, ““ I have sent for you to ask if any
one has molested you in this city, or taken money from you in
my name, and if you leave us contented ?’ I replied that we
had been treated as honoured guests, that our luggage had not
even been opened, nor our property taxed, and that I should
ever remember with the deepest sense of gratitude the many
kindnesses that had been shown to us in the holy Bokhara.
« « « « I quitted this worthy man with a full heart, and with
sincere wishes (which I still feel) for the prosperity of this
country.” The Vizier gave authoritative instructions to the
conductors of the caravan with which Burnes was to travel,
and to a Toorkoman chief who was to accompany it with an
escort, t¢ guard the lives and properties of the Feringhees,
declaring that he would root them from the face of the carth
if any accident should befal the travellers; and the King of
Bokhara gave them also a firman of protection bearing t.e
royal seal. It is instructive to consider all this with the light
of after-events to help us to a right understanding of its signifi-
cance.

From Bokhara the route of the travellers lay across the
great Toorkoman desert to Merve and Meshed, thence to Ast-
rabad and the shores of the Caspian ; thence to Teheran, the
capital of the dominions of the Shah of Persia, from which
point Burnes moved down to the Persian Gulf, took ship there
to Bombay, and afterwards proceeded to Calcutta. The story
has been told by himself, with an abundance of pleasant
detail, and is too well known to need to be repeated. Sum-
ming up the whole, he says of it, in a few striking words, ¢ I
saw everything, both ancient and modern, to excite the in-
terest and inflame the imagination—Bactria, Trans-Oxiana,
Scythia, and Parthia, Kharasm, Khorasan, and Iran. We
had now visited all these countries; we had retraced the
greater part of the route of the Macedonians; trodden tho
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kingdoms of Porus and Taxiles, sailed on the Hydaspes,
crossed the Indian Caucasus, and resided in the celebrated
city of Balkh, from which Greek monarchs, far removed from
the academies of Corinth and Athens, had once disseminated
among mankind asknowledge of the arts and sciences of their
own history, and the world.  We had beheld the scenes of
Al vander’s wars, of the rude and savage inroads of Jengis
and Timour, as well as of the campaigns and revelries of
Baber, us given in the delighttul and glowing language of his
commentaries. In the journey to the coast, we had marched
on the very line of route by which Alexander had pursued
Darius, while the voyuge to Indin took us on the coast of
Mekran, and the track of the Admiral Nearchus,”

At Culeutta, Alexander Burnes laid betore the Governor-
General an account of his journey, accompanying it with
much grave discourse on the policy which it was expedient for
the British Government to pursue towards the different states
which he had visited. The result was exactly what he wished.
He was sent home to communicate to the authorities in Eng-
land the information which he had obtained. All this was truly
delightful.  Never in the midst of his wanderings in strange
plucc», and among a strange people, had he forgotten the
old liome in Montrose, and the familiar faces of the household
there ; never had his heart ceased to yearn for the renewal in
the flesh of those dear old family associations. He liked
India; he loved his work, he glorfud in the career before him ;
but the good home- fcc]mw was ever fresh in his heart, and he
was continually tlunl\mg of what was said and thought in
Montrose. And in most of our Indian heroes this good home-
feeling was kept alive to the last. It was not weariness of
India; it was not a haukering after England. It was simply
a good healthy “desire to revisit the scenes of one’s youth,
to seo again the faces of one’s kindred, and then, strengthened
and refroshed to return with better heart for one’s s work.

On the 4th of November, 1833, Burnes landed at Dart- vige o 1
mouth, and wrote thence to his mother that he could scarcely land.
contain himself for joy. On the 6th he was in London, with
his brothers, David and Charles; dining in the evening with
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the Court of Directors, who had opportunely one of their
banquets at the London Tavern. Before the weck was out,
he was in a whirl of social excitement ; he was fast becoming
a lion—only waiting, indeed, for the commencement of the
London season, to be installed as one of tfe first magnitude.
1 have been inundated by visits,” he wrote to his mother,
“from authors, publishers, socicties, and what not. I am re-
quested to be at the Geographical Society this evening, but I
defer it for a fortnight, when T wm to have a night to myself.
.« . Ally all are kind to me. 1 am a perfect wild beast.—
“There's the traveller,” ¢ There's Mr. Burnes,” ¢ There’s the
Indus Burnes,” and what not do 1 hear, 1 wish I could hear
vou and my father, and 1 would despise all other compli-
ments.”  “ 1 am killed with honours and kindness,” he said,
in another letter, “and it ix a more painful death than starva-
tion amony the Usbeks.”  In all thix there was no exaggera-
tion.  The magnates of the land were contending for the pri-
vilege of a little conversation with ¢ Bokhara Burnes.”  Lord
Holland was eager to eateh him for Holland House.  Lord
Lansdowne was bent upon carrying him off’ to Bowood.
Charles Grant, the President of the Board of Control, sent
him to the Prime Minister, Lord Grev, who had long confi-
dential conferences with him; and, to erown all, the King—
William the Fourth—ecommanded the presence of the Bombay
Lieutenant at the Brighton Pavilion, and listened to the story
of his travels and the exposition of his views for nearly an
hour and a half.

The account of the interview, as recorded in his journal, is
interesting and amusing: * Well, T have been an hour and
twenty minutes with William the Fourth, and eventful ones
they have been. It is not likely that I shall have many inter-
views with royalty, so I may he prolix in this, the first one,
From the Castle Square gate I was taken to Lord Frederic
Fitzclarence, who led me to the Chinese Hall, where [ sat for
twenty minutes till the King transacted his business with Sir
Herbert Taylor. ¢ Tuke a book,” said Lord Frederic, ¢ from the
shelf and amuse yourstlf;’ and one of the first I pulled down,
was—what ? ¢ Burnes’ Justice.” This was ludicrous—was it
but justice that I should see the King, or what? ¢Mr,
Burnes,’ cried a page. I passed through two rooms; a large
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hall was thrown open, and I stood, hat in hand, in the presence
of King William. ¢How do you do, Mr. Bumes? I am
most glad to see you; come and sit down—take a chair—
there, sit down, take a chair.” The King stood but I sat, as
compliance is politeness. There was no bendmg of knees, no
kissing of hand, no ceremony ; I went dressed as to a private
gentleman. I expected to find a jolly-looking, laughing man,
instead of which, William looks grave, old, careworn, and
tired. His Majesty immediately began on my travels, and,
desiring me to whecl round a table for him, he pulled his chair
and sat down by mine. Hereon I pulled out a map, and said
that T hoped his Majesty would permit me to offer the ex-
planation on it. I began, and got along most fluently. I told
him of the difficulties in Slndh, the reception by Runjeet, &c.,
but William the Fourth was all for politics, so I tulked of the
designs of Russia, her treaties, intrigues, agencies, ambas-
sadors, commerce, &c., the facilities, the obstacles regarding
the advance of armies—I flew from Lahore to Caubul, from
Caubul to Bokhara and the Caspian, and I answered a hun-
dred questions to his Majesty. The King then got up, took
me to a large map, and made me go over all a second time,
and turning round to me, asked a great deal about me per-
sonally. “Where wero you oducated 27 ¢In Scotland, Sir.’
¢ What is your age ?* ¢ Twenty-cight, please your Majesty.’
¢ Only twenty-eight!  What rank do you hold ?* T replied,
that I was only a Licutenant in the Army, but that my situa-
tion was political. ¢ Oh, that I know. Really, sir,’ com-
menced the Kmn, ¢you are a wonderful man ; you have done
more for me in this hour than any one has ever been able to
do; you have pointed out ev erytlmm tome. I now sce why
Lord William Bentinck places confidence in you; I had heard
that you were an asle man, but now I know you are most
able. I trust in God that your life may be spared, that our
Eastern Empire may benefit by the talents and abilities which
you possess, You are entrusted with fearful information :
you must take care what you pubhsh My ministers have
been speaking of you to me, in partlclﬂar Lord Grey. You
will tell his Lordship and Mr. Grant all the conversation you
have had with me, and you will tell them what I think upon
the ambition of Russia. . . . I think, sir, that your sugges-

1833;
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tions and those of Lord William Bentinck most profound ;
you will tell Lord William, when you return to India, of my
great gratification at having met so intelligent a person as
yourself, and my satisfaction at his Lordship’s having brought
these matters beforo the Cabinet. Lord Grey thinks as I do,
that you have como home on a mission of primary importance
—second only to the politics of Russia and Constantinople.
. . . Lord Grey tells me that you have convinced him that
our position in Russia is hopeless.” So continued King
William. I felt quite overcome with his compliments. He
then made me run over my early services, wondered only I
was not a Lieutenant-Colonel if T had been an Assistant-
Quartermaster-General, added that he saw sufficient reason
for employing a man of my talents in the highest situation,
and again hoped that I might be spared for my country’s
good. I replied to the King that I considered it a high
honour to have had such confidential communication with his
Majesty. He stopped me, and said that ‘I have been quite
unreserved, for I see and know you deserve it. I could say
many things to you,” &e. &e. I have no more time to write.
The King wore a blue coat with the ribbon of the Garter, and a
narrow red ribbon round his neck, to which a eross was sus-
pended. ¢ Good morning, sir; I am truly happy to have scen
you. You don’t go to India yet,” & &e. I took my de-
parture, and, while threading the passages, a page ran after
me, by desire of the King, to show me the Palace ; but I had
seen it.”

He was now hard at work upon his book. He had written
many lengthy and valuable official reports; but he had little
experience of literary composition ibr a larger public than
that of a bureaucracy, and he wa wise enough to discern
that the path to popular favour must be very cautiously
trodden. Mistrusting his own critical judgment, he sub-
mitted portions of his work, before publication, to some more
experienced friends, among whom were Mr. James Baillie
Fraser and Mr. Moyntstuart Elphinstone. The latter, not
oblivious of his own early throes of literary labour, read the
manuscript—painfully, in one sense, owing to the failure of
his sight, but with the greatest interest and delight. * I never
read anything,” he wrote from his chambers in the Albany
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to Alexander Burnes, ¢ with more interest and pleasure; and
although I cannot expect that every reader will be as much
delighted as I have been, yet I shall have a bad opinion of
the people’s taste if the narrative is not received with general
favour.,” But although Mr. Elphinstone bestowed these
general praises on the work, he was fain to do his young
friend good service by honestly criticising the work in detail.
“I have made my remarks,” he wrote, ‘“with the utmost
freedom, and the more so, because I hope you will not pay
any attention to them when unsupported, but will be guided
by the opinion of people who know the taste of this town,
and who are familiar with criticism in general literature. I
must premise that many of my objections are founded on
general principles, and may, therefore, often be brought
against passages which in themselves may be beautiful, but
which lack the general effect to which you ought always to
look. The first of these principles is, that a narrative of this
kind should be in the highest degree plain and simple.” The
reader who has perused the preceding Memoir of Mr. Elphin-
stone, may remember how, in the preparation of his own book
of travels, he had steadfastly adhered to this critical tenet;
but whether naturally, or against nature, I do not undertake
tosay. My own impression is that he had brought his native
instincts and appetencies to this state of critical subjection
after sore trial and hard conflict, ap- that he spoke with the
authority of a man who had wrestled down some besetting
temptations. For naturally he was ardent, enthusiastic,
imaginative ; and when he first began to write for the public,
he might have given way to the exuberance which he after-
wards deprecated, if it had not been for the pruning-knife
of his friend Richard Jenkins. Critically, he was doubtless
right ; but when he continued thus to enlarge upon the para-
mount duty of simplicity, perhaps he did not sufficiently re-
member that a ¢ fastidious public” may be a small one. “To
gain the confidence and good will of his reader,” he said, “a
traveller must be perfectly unaffected and unpretending. His
whole object must seem to be to state what he has seen in the
eountries he has visited, without claiming the smallest supe-
riority over his reader in any other description of knowledge
or observation, For this reason, every unusual word, every
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fine sentiment, every general reflection, and every sign of an
ambitious style, should be carefully excluded.” A: hard lesson
this for a young writer; and there was much more of the
same kind; sound and excellent advice, altogether past dis-
pute, and in accordance with the best crftical canons. But
Mr. Elphinstone lived to see these severe literary doctrines
utterly set at naught by a younger race of writers—lived to
see a “fastidious public” take to its heart Eothen, as the
most popular book of travels ever published in modern times.

Nor was the only pruning-knife applied to the exuberance
of the young writer that which was wielded by the experi-
enced hand of such chastened writers as Mr. Elphinstone,
the official knife was also applied to the manuscript in the

“Secret Department of the India House. This was, doubtless,

in a literary sense, disadvantageous to the book; but, after
undergoing these ordeals, it came out under the auspices of
Mr. Murray; and Burnes had the honour of presenting a
copy to the King at one of his Majesty’s levees. “I know
all about this,” smd the good-natured monarch, mindful of
Burnes’s visit to him at Bnghton The book was an un- -
doubted success. It was well received by the critics and hy
the public, for not only was there something goographically
new in it, but something also politically suggostive. Whe
Russo-phobla was gaining ground in England. = There were
many who believed that the time was fsst approaching when
the bepoy and the Cossack would mect, face to face, some-
where in Central Asia. It was a great tlml , therefore, just
in that momentous epoch, that some one should appesr amongst
us to whom the countries lying between the Indus and tho
Caspian were something more than®places on the map. As
the depository of so much serviceable information, Burnes
was sure to be welcome everywhere. There was much, too,
in the man himself to increase the interest which his know-
ledge of these strange countries excited. He was young in
years, but younger still in appearance and in manner. When
he said that he had been thirteen or fourteen: years in India,
Lord Munster said to him, ¢ Why, that must Lave been nearly
all your life.”” Thore was a charming freshness and naiveté
about him—the reflexion, it ‘may be said, of a warm, true
heart, in which the home affections had neyer for a moment



RETURNING TO INDIA. 31

been dormant. The greatest happiness which his success gave
him was derived from the thought that it would give pleasure
to his family, and might enable him to help them. He had
striven in vain, and his father had striven also, through Sir
John Malcolm and bthers, to obtain a cadetship for his brother
Charles ; but now this great object was readily obtainable, and
the young man, who had been waiting so long for this pro-
motion, received, as a just tribute to his brother, an appoint-
ment in the Bombay Army, which others’ influence had failed
to procure for him.

He remained at home until the spring of 1835 ;.and then,
with mingled feelings of hope and regret, he set his face again
towards the East.* His sojourn in England had been attended
by so many gratifving and flattering circumstances, that to one
of his impressi(_nmble nature it must have been a continual
delight from the first day to the last. Among other honours
bestowed on him of which I have not spoken, it may be re-
corded here that he received the gold medal of our Geographical
Society, and the silver medal of the Geographical Society of
Paris, and that he was nominated, without ballot, a member
of the Athenaum Club—an honour which has been.described
as the “Blue Riband of Literature.” In Paris, too, the
savans of that enlightened city reccived him with as much
enthusiasm as our own people. It would have been strange
if, at his early age, his head had noj been somewhat ¢ turned”
by all this success. But if it caused him to set a high value
on his own services, it caused him also to strain his energies
to the utmost not to disappoint the expectations which had
been formed-of him by others. A little youthful vanity is
not a bad thing to help a man on in the world.

1834,

When Burnes returned to Bombay, he was ordered to Return to
rejoin his oid appointment as assistant to the Resident in India.

Cutch. In the course of the autumn he was despatched by
Colonel Pottinger on a mission to Hyderabad, the capital of
the Ameers of Sindh. I am doomed,” he wrote, ¢ to lead

* He went out overland in charge of which vessel he sent intelligence to Sir
despatches, from, the India House, and Charles Metcalfe that Lord Heytesbury

proceeded from Suez to Bombay in the had been appointed Govemor—Genenl
Hugh Lindsay (pioneer) steamer, from of India.



1883,

32 ~ BIR ALEXANDER BURNES.

a vagabond life for ever; but all this is in my way, and I am
in great spirits.” But neither were his habits of so vagrant a
character, nor the necessities of his work so engrossing, as to
prevent him from thinking and writing about what has since
been called the  Condition-of-India Question.” He was very
eager always for the moral elevation of the people, and he
spoke with some bitterness of those who looked upon India
merely as a preserve for the favoured European services. ¢ Do
not believe,” he wrote to a friend, ¢ that I wish to supersede
Europeans by unfit natives. I wish gradually to raise their
moral standard, now so low, for which we are, however, more
to blame than themselves. Men will say, ¢ Wait till they are
ready.” I can only reply, that if you wait till men are fit for
liberty, you will wait for ever. Somewhere in the Edinburgh
Review of days of yore, you will find this sentiment, which is
mine: ¢ Will a man ever learn to swim without going into the
water?” 7 After insisting on the duty of encouraging educa-
tion by providing profitable employment for the educated
classes, and declaring that we should thus soon cover the
country with educated and thinking people, hie continued in
this letter from Hyderabad:  There is nothing here that I
cannot support by history. Tacitus tells us a similar tale of
our own ancestors, among whom Agricola sowed the seeds of
greatness. That accomplished historian speaks of the super-
stitions of the Britons—of the ferocity of the hill tribes—of
the degeneracy of those who had been subdued—of the want
of union which had led to it—of the alacrity with which they
paid their tribute, &c. &c. Change the name of Briton to
Indian, and what have we but a sketch of this country under
our present rule? And who are we? The descendants of
those savages whom Agricola, by new and wise regulations,

"educated—we who are now glorious throughout the world.”

And again, a few months later, he wrote: I look upon the
services, one and all, as quite subservient to the great egd of
governing India ; but I seldom meet with any one who looks
upon India in any other light than as a place for those services,
which is to me so monstrous, that I have, like Descartes,
begun ¢ to doubt my own existence, seeing such doubt around
me.” ” He spoke of this with righteous indignation, but there
was a tinge of exaggeration in his words ; and he spoke some-
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what too strongly even with referenco to those times when he 1836,
said that, “ instead of raising up a glorious monument to our
memory, we should impoverish India more thoroughly than
Nadir, and become a greater curse to it than were the hordes
of Timour.” .

But his services were now about to be demanded by the
(fover: ment in a more independent position. Lord Auckland
had proceeded to India as Governor-General. He had met
Burnes at Bowood, had been pleased with his conversation,
and had formed a high opinion of the energy and ability of
the young subaltern,  'When, therefore, the first rude scheme
of a pacitic policy in the countries bevond the Indus took
shape in his mind, he recognised at once the fact tha! Burnes
must be one of itz chief agents.  So the Cutch Assistant
was placed under the orders of the Supreme Government,
and directed to hold himself in readiness to undertake what
was deseribed at the time, and is still known in history, as
a ‘¢ Commercial mission” to Caubul.  Commerce, in the
vocnbulary of the East, is only another name for conquest.
By coiamerce, the East India Company had become the
sovercigns of the great Indian peninsula; and this com-
mercial mission beeame the cloak of grave political designs.
Very soon the cloak was thrown aside as an incumbrance,
and, instead of directing his energies to the opening of the
navigation of the Indus, the institption of fairs, and the
opening of the new commercial routes through the Afghan
and Beloochee countries, Alexander Burnes gave up his mind
to the great work of check-mating Russia in the East.

¢ In the lutter end of November, 1836, I was directed by The commer-
the Governor-General of India, the Earl of Auckland, to 8:},",31‘?8'0“ t‘
undertake a mission to Caubul. Lieutenant (now Major)
Robert Leech, of the -3ombay Engineers, Lieutenant John
Wood, of the Indian Navy, and Percival B. Lord, Esq., M.B,,
were appointed with me in the undertaking. The objects of
Government were to work out its policy of opening the river
Indus to commerce, and establishing on its banks and in the
countries beyond it such relations as should contribute to the
desired end.  On the 26th of November we sailed from Bom-
bay, and sighting the fine palace at Mandavoe on the 6th of
December, wo finally landed in Sindh on the 13th of the

VOL. 1L D
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month. Dr. Lord did not join our party till March.” Such
is the first page of a book written some years afterwards by
Sir Alexander Burnes, in which he tells the story of this visit
to Caubul, stripped of all its political apparel. Neither in its
commereial nor its scientific aspects wascit wholly a failure.*
Burnes drew up a report on the trade of the Indus, and Wood
wroto an excellent paper on its navigation; but events wero
developing themselves even faster t]mn the ideas of the tra-
vellers ; and commerce and science, though not wholly for-
gotten, soon dwindled into second-rate aftairs,

Lord Auckland was not an ambitious man—quiet, sensible,
inclined towards peace, he would not have given himself
up to the allurements of a greater game, it he had not heen
stimulated, past all hope of resistance, hy evil advisers, who
were continually pouring into his cars alarming stories of
deep-laid plots and subtle intrignes  emanating {rom the
Cabinet of St. Petersburg, and of the wide-spread corruption
that was to be wrought by Russian gold. It was believed
that the King of Pcr.sm had become the vassal of the great
Muscovite monarch, and that he had been instigated by the
Goverument of the Emperor to march an army to Herat for
the capture of that famous fronticr city, and for the further
extension of his dominions towards the boundaries of our
Indian Empire. The attack upon Herat was a substantial
fact ; the presence of Russian officers in the Persian territory,
as aiders and abettors of the sicge of Herat, was also a fact.
The dangers which were apprchended were essentially very
similar to those which had alarmed us more than a quarter of
a century before, and which had caused the despatch of Mr.
Elphinstone’s mission to Afghauistan.  But there were someo

views with Lord Grev, Mr. Charles
Grant, Lord Lansdowne, and other

* Lord Auckland, it should be stated,
received this as a legacy from Lord

William Bentinck, with whom Burnes
had been in communication in India,
and in correspondence during his resi-
dence in Fngland. Whilst at home,
Burnes had ceaselessly impressed on the
King's Ministers, as well as on the
Directors of the Company, the import-
ance of not neglecting, either in their
commercial or their political aspects,
the countries heyond the Indus; and
some of his letters, written at this time,
give interesting accounts of his inter-

statesmen, on this favourite subject. In
one Jetter to Lord William Bentinck, he
wrote that Lord Grey took a too Euro-
pean view of the question, and con-
sidered it chiefly *““in connexion with
the designs of Russia towards Clon-
stantinople ;" whilst Lord Lanadowne,
having “a mind cast in so noble a
nmuld, looked with more interest on
the great future of human society than
on our immediate relations with those
countries,”
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circumstantial differences. Not only had the Russian power
taken the place of the French in the great drama of intrigue
and aggression, but another actor had appeared upon the
" scene to take the leading business at Caubul. There had been
a revolution, or a guccession of revolutions, in Afghanistan.
The Suddozye King, Shah Soojah, whom Elphinstone had
met -t Peshawur, was now a pensioner in the British domi-
nions, and the Barukzye chief, Dost Mahomed, was dominant
at Caubul.

This was the man who, in the autumn of 1837, welcomal
the English gentlemen to his capital. ¢ On the 20th of Sep-
tember,” wrote Burnes in his published book, ¢ we entered
Caubul, and were received with great pomp and splendour by
a fine body of Afghan cavalry, led by the Ameer’s son, Akbar
Khan. He did me the honour to place me upon the same
elephant on which he himsclf rode, and conducted us to his
father’s court, whose reception of us was most cordial. A
spacious garden close to tho palace, and inside the Dalla
Hissar of Caubul, was allotted to the mission as their place of
residcace.  On the 21st of September we were admitted to a
formal audience by Ameer Dost Mahomed Khan, and I then
delivered to him my credentials from the Governor-General
of India. His reception of them was all that could be desired.
I informed him that 1 had brought with me, as presents to his
Highness, some of the raritics of Eugope ; he promptly replied
that wo ourselves were the rarities, the sight of which best
pleased him.” DBut neither the presents nor the promises,
which Burnes was allowed to make to the Afghans, were of a
character that could much gratify them. The fact is, that we
sought much, and that we granted little.  Dost Mahomed was
at this time greatly perplexed and embarrassed.  Alarmed by
the attitude of the Sikhs on the one side,* and of the Persians
on the other, he looked to the English for support and assist-
ance in his troublos. But wecks passed away, and weeks
grew into months. The English gentlemen remained at
Caubul, but he could extract no comfort from them ; and, in

* Whilst Burnes and his companion May a great battle was fought at Jum-
had been moving onward from Sindh  rood, in which the Sikhs were vic-
to Afghanistan through Beloochistan torious.  The disturbed state of the

and the Punjab, the Sikhs and Afghans country had delayed the progress of
had been fighting for Peshawur. In the Mission.
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the mean while, & Russian agent had appeared upon the scene,
less chary of his consolations. ~ “To the East,” said Burnes,
¢ the fears of Dost Mahomed were allayed ; to the West they
were increased. In this state of things his hopes were so
worked upon, that the ultimate result whs his estrangement
from the British Government.”

It was our policy to securc tho good offices of the Ameer,
and it was the duty of Alexander Burnes to accomplish the
object.  Left to himself, he would have done it. He, who
best knew Dost Mahomed, had most faith in him. The Ameer
was eager for the British alliance, and nothing was casicr than
to secure Lis friendship.  But whilst Burnes was striving to
accomplish this great object at Caubul, other comnsels were
prevailing at Simlah—that great hotbed of Intrigue on the
Himalayan hills—where the Governor-General and his secre-
taries were refreshing and invigorating themselves, and rising
to heights of audacity which th('\ never might have re l(‘hﬂd
in the languid atnm,\pherc of Caleutta, They conceived the
idea of emstituting the old deposed dynasty of Shaly Soojah,
and they picked him out of the dust of Loodhianal to make
him a tool and a puppet, and with the nominal aid of Runjeet
Singh, who saw plainly that we were making a mistake which
might be turned to his advantage, they determined to replace
the vain, weak-minded exile, whom his country had cast out
as a hissing and a reproach, on the throne of Afghanistan, It
is enough o state the fact.  The policy was the pulm of the
%mlah Cabinet, with which Burnes had nothing to do. It
was rank nuushce to Dost Mahomed. It was rank injustice
to Alexander Burnes.  The youn~ English ofticer, who had
been twice the guest of the Barukzye Sirdars of Caubul, who
had led them to helicve that his Government would support
them, and who had good and substantial reason to helieve that
they would be true to the English alliance, now found that Lo
was fearfully compromised by the conduct of his official
superiors.  He left Caubul, and made his way to Simlah; and
1t iy said that the sceretaries received him with eager entreaties
not to spoil the “ great game” by dissuading Lord Auckland
from the aggressive pohcy to which he had 1cluctanl ly given
his consent.

This was in the summer of 1838. Even if the young Bom-
bay officer could lave spoken with  the tongue of angels,”
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his words would have been too late. What could he do against
a triumvirate of Bengal civilians—the ablest and most accom-
plished in the country ? It is true that he had an intimate ac-
quaintance, practical, personal, with the politics of Afghanistan,
whilst all that they knew was derived from the book that he
had written, from the writings of Mountstuart Elphinstone,
and from another hook of travels written by a young cavalry
officer named Arthur Conolly, of whom I shall presently give
some account in this volume.  But they had had the ear of the
Governor-General whilst Burnes had been working at Caubul ;

and so their crude theories prevailed against his practical
knowledge. e was not, however, a man of a stubborn and
ol)wtnmtc nature, or one \\]10 could work out, with due minis-
terial activity, only the policy which he lum.sclf' favoured. It
is the sorest trial of official life to be condemned to execute
measures, which you have neither recommended nor approved,

and then to be identitied with them as though they were your
own. But every goud publie servant must consent to bear this
Durden with all becoming resignation and humility, The State
could not be efficiently serv cd, if every subordinate servant
were to assume to himself the right of mdependcnt Jjudgment.
Burnes wounld have supported Dost Mahomed from the first,
but when it was decreed that Shah Soojuh should be supported,
Burnes endeavoured to reconcile himself to the poliey, and did
his best to render it suceessful.* Wht his views were may be

* From Simlah he wrote on the 10th
of September, 1838, saving : 1 implored
the Government to act. Ilis Lordship
lauded me for my abilities, &e., but
thougiit I was travelling too fast, and
would do nothing.  Matters got worse
hourly,  Letters from Russian agents,
promising everything to the Afghan
chiefs, fell into my hands, U founded
on them further remonstrances at the
supineness of Government ; their eyes
were opened ; they b('"'"cd of me to
hold on at Caubul if l could; but 1
knew my duty better to my country,
for meanwhile Russian good offices had
heen accepged to the exclusion of the
British, and 1 struck my flag and
returned to India, saying: ¢ Behold what
your tardiness has done!”  You might
think disgrace would follow such pro-
ceedings : far from it—they applauded
my vigour, and twenty thousand men
are now under orders to do what a word
might have done earlier, and two mil-

lions of money must be sunk in what I
offered to do for two lakhs! low came
this about ?  Persia has been urged by
Russia to attack Ierat and invade
India.  Poor Dost Mahomed is afraid
of the Sikhs on one side, and of Persia
on the other. Russia guaranteed him
against Persia, and thus he clung to her
instead of us,  Sagacity might have led
him to act otherwise, but he was placed
in diflicult circumstances, and we aug-
mented his difficulties.  1n the dilemma
they asked my views. I replied: * Self-
defence is the first law of nature. If
vou cannot bring round Dost Mahomed,
whom you have used infamously,
you must set up Shah Soojah as a
puppet, and establish a supremacy in
Afghanistan, or you will lose India.’
This is to be done, and we have drawn
closer to Runject Singh, who has fea-
thered his nest in our dilemma, and kept
all his Afghan country, under our pro-
mise of support.”
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gathered from the following letter, which he wrote to Sir John
Hobhouse, in December, 1838 : ¢ The retreat of the Porsians
from Herat has been to us all most gratifying intelligence, but
the subsequent proceedings of the Shah raise up in my mind
the strongest doubt of our having brought his Majesty to
reason, or done aught but to postpone the evil day for a time.
The frontier fortress of Afghanistan—Ghorian—is still gar-
risoned by Persian troops, and besides a messenger on the part
of the Shah now at Candahar and Caubul, the Russian officer,
Captain Vicovitch, is at Candabar, and has already dis-
tributed 10,000 ducats among the chiefs who have called out
their retainers, and are now on their route to invest Herat.
The Russian declares on all occasions that Mahomed Shah will
return, and that the money he distributes is not Russian gold,
but that of the Shah ; and further, that it Herat falls into their
hands, the Russians will then lead the Afghans to the Attock
(Indus). After the gallant defence made by Herat, it micht
not appear at all possible that the chiefs of Candahar should
capture it with their rabble band ; but still I have some ap-
prehensions, as well from the reduced and dilapidated stato of
Herat itself, as from its being now about to be invested by
Afghans. In their wars, victory is decided by defection. The
minister of Herat is unpopular, and he will not be able to rouse
the courage of his people by their fighting against the enemics
of their religion, as were the Sheeah Persians. On the raising
of the siege of Herat, I wrote at once to Licutenant Pottinger,
sending him 20,000 rupees, and telling him ¢ to draw on me for
such a sum as is indispensable to place the walls of Herat in a
state of repair, and reliove its suffering inhabitants from want,’
and I have received the Governor-General’s sanction to send
him a lakh of rupees ; but in a subsequent part of this letter I
will point out that we ought to make much larger sacrifices
than this, and as Lord Auckland does not as yet know of the
extent of this new Russian intrigue, I shall, without hesitation,
cash any bill from Herat for money expended as 1 have stated.
Till I received very precise accounts of' Vicovitch’s proceed-
ings, I could not unravel the object of his intrigue, but I have
had a practical proof of it within this week from the chief of
Khelat, the first ruler we shall encounter on our way to Can-
dahar, and through whose territory is the great Pass of Bolan.
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To an invitation sent to this person to co-operate with us,
from Lord Auckland, Shah Soojah, and myself, he tells me that
he is a friend, and will do all that is wished, hut that he wants
certain territories restored to him; that he supports the Shah
only to oblige us, and that the chief of Candahar had offered
him a part of the Russian gold now and hereafter to side with
him. Ag an alliance between Candahar and Khelat is perfectly
out of the question, and Mehrah Khan’s (the chief is so called)
pretensions, if allowed to take root, would involve serious em-
barrassment, 1 have plainly told him that he is either to be a
friend or a foe, and I have little doubt that all will go right
with him.  But it is not the small chiefship of Khelat or its
petty polities that would lead me to trouble you with an intro-
duction of them.  What is to be said to a regular train of
proof now hrought to light of Russian intrigue from Khelat to
Kokund, or from the sea to the northern portion of Cashmere !
It is clear, und appears to me imperative on the British
Government to spare neither expense nor labour to supplant
this growing influence. It is, therefore, with every satistuc-
tion that I see the Governor-General resolved upon carrying
through his measures, even though Herat be relieved, for we
an have no security for the future without rearing a solid
fabric westward of the Indus. Our policy there for the last
thirty years has been so supine and full of reserve, that we
have to thank ourselves only for the evils that have aceumu-
lated. It is not fitting in me to say things of what might
have been so easily done by us in Caubul and Candahar last
year, since, however much the loss of that opportunity is to
be regretted, the hasis of the present war is selt-defence, the
first Iaw of nature.  On that stable ground the Government
can and must defend its measures, and if sympathy and fac-
tion united raise up a party to side with Dost Mahomed Khan,
they may paint with much colour the hardship of his case (and
it is a very hard one), but all faction must sink before the
irrefragable evidence that our Indian Empire is endangered by
a further perseverance in our late and inert policy. But sup-
posing our plans for placing Shal Soojah on the throne of his
ancestors to succeed, it is evident that wo shall have a strong
under-cyrrent of intrigue to work up against, and that Russia
will now add to her former moans of intrigning through the
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Persians in Afghanistan, the unscated rulers of Caubul and
Candahar. All our energies will, therefore, be called forth,
for I consider Persia to be as much subject to Russia as India
is to Britain, and we must make up our minds to oppose her,
face to face, on the Afghan fronticr. My journey to Bokhara
in 1832 served to convince me that Russia had ulterior designs
castward, which I expressod as firmly as I believed, but it was
not the poh(fy of the day to cheek them. T did not think that
her progress and intrigues would have been so rapid as they
have been, and I then believed that we might have injured
Russia in these countries by giving encouragement to the
Indus commerce and founding fairs, but all these hopes are
now vain, without the display of physical power aiding our
moral influence. I have urged Lord Auckland to fortity
Herat on the principles most approved by engineers. T will
give the same advice with reference to Candahar when it falls
to us, and [ hope in the course of & month to have received
from the chief of Northern Sindh (to whose Court T am ae-
credited as Envov) the fortress of Bukkur.  The grand line of
route will thus be in our hands, and at Caubul itsclf we shall
have a strong government by supporting the Shah, and a good
pledge for his continued fric*ndshil» in the British officers ve
have placed in his service.’

When it was determined by Lord Ancklind's Government
that a great army should he assembled for the invasion of
Afghanistan and the restoration of Shah Soojah to the throne
of Caubul, the army was to mareh by the way of the Bolan
Pass, through the country ruled by the Ameers ot Sindh, and
Burnes was to be sent forward to m-ke all necessary arrange-
ments for the passage of our army through those little know n
and difficult regions to Candahar,  If hv had formed any ex-
pectation of being vested with the supreme political control of
the expedition, and afterwards of representing British interests
at the Court of Shah Soojah, they were not unreasonable ex-
pectations. But Mr. Macnaghten was appointed ¢ Envoy and
Minister” at Caubul, whilst Captain Burnes, in the vice-regal
programme having no assured place, was to be employed as
a wayside emissary. But the sharpness of his disappointment
was mitigated by the receipt of letters announcing that the
Queen had taken his services into gracious consideration, and
had made him a Knight, with tho military rank of Lieutenant-
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Colonel. This sent him about his work with better heart, and
he brought all his energies to hear upon the important duty of
smoothing the road for the march of the army of the Indus,
and the procession of the restored Suddozye monarch into the
heart of the countrv, which never wanted him, and which heo
wax wholly incompetent to govern.

Nor were these the onlv gratifving circumstances which
raised his spirits at this time. He found that the policy which
he would have worked out in Afghanistan, though thwarted
by the Simlah Cabinet, had found favour in ]ufrh places at
home.  Lord Aucl\land himself’ frankly acknowledged this,
and generously afforded Burnes full license to enjoy his
victory. I enclose u letter from the Governor-General him-
selfy” wrote Licutenant-Colonel Sir Alexander Burnes, from
Shikarpore, on the 4th of December, “which is a document
very dear to me, and which I told Lord Auckland 1 prized as
high as the honours themselves.  The fact is, I have heen
plaving the boldest game a man ever dared. T ditfered
entirely with the Governor-General as to his poliey in
Afghanistan, told him it would ruin us, cost the nation
millions, when a few lakhs now would keep off Russia.  They
would not be guided by me, and zent me a laudatory wig
(reprimand), and as surc as I had been a prophet, my predic-
tions aro verified.  Russia s upon us, and the Home Govern-
ment has pronounced me right end his Lordship wrong!
This is the greatest hit T have ‘made in life. Neeing how the
had mismanaged all things, they asked my adviee; but, ]ike
all timid politicians, they ran from one extreme to another.
An army was necessary, but not so large an army.  However,
I told Lord Auckland I should do all I could to work out his
views, and am doing so.  The declaration of war you will seo
in the papers, and how much has come out of my mission to

Caubul,”*

* The folluwmg H the text of Lord
Auckland's letter: % Simlah, Nov. 5,
1838.—My dear Sir,—1 cordially con-
gratulate you on the public proofs of
approbation with which you have been
marked at home. My private letters
speak in high terms of your proueodmgs
at Caubul, and T may in candour
mention that upon the one point upon
which there was some difference between

us—the proposed advance of money to
Candahar—opinions for which I have
the highest respect, are in your favour,
I do not grudge you this, and am only
glad that a just tribute has been paid
to your ability and indefatigable zeal,
The superscription of this letter will, in
case you have not received direct ac-
counts, explain my meamng to you.—
Yours, very faithfully, AUCKLAND,”

1838.
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At this time Burnes was employed on & mission to the
Amcers of Sindh, with the object of smoothing the way for
the advance of the British army, which was to march, by way
of the Bolan Pass, to Candahar and Caubul. It was not
work that could be accomplished without some harshness and
injustice ; and there arc indications in his correspondence that
he did not much like the course, which ho was compelled to
pursue, in dealing with Meer Roostum of Khyrpore, from
whom the cession of Bukkur was to bo obtained. But he had
a natural taste for diplomacy, and the issues of success some-
times so dazzled his eyes, that he did not see very clearly the
true nature of the means of accomplishment. I have been
travelling to Khyrpore,” he wrote to Pereival Lord, on New
Year’ s-da), 1839, “treaty-making on a great seale, and, what
is well, carrying ull before me. T ha\o got the fortress of
Bukkur ~eded to us on our own terms (which are, that we arc
to hold it new and during war)—the Khyrpore State to place
itself under British protection ; and a clause has been inserted
in my treaty paving the way for the abolition of all tolls on
the Indus ! Huzza! Sce how old Roostum and his minister
(the Boree, as you christened him) have cut up.  You did not
expect such a chef-d’wuvre as this, which is & fit ending to the
Caubul mission, since by Bukkur the Macedonians bridled the
neighbouring nations.  All these great doings happened at
Christmas, and I wanted your hilarious tones to make the
enjoyment of the day complete.”

There was other work, too, for him at this time—other
treaties to be thrust down the throats of the Sindh Ameers.
Higher up, along the line of our sdvancing army, Mehrab
Khzm of Khelat was to be brought to terms, Lurncs, who was
officially ¢ Envoy to the Clucf of Khelat or other States,”
was, of course, sent forward to negotiate the desired treaty,
and to obtain, from the Chief, supplies for the troops who
were passing through his territory. But they had already
devastated his country ; there wasno grain to be had, and all
the food that could be supplicd to our army consisted of some
ill-fed sheep. ¢ The English,” said Mchrab Khan to Burnes,
“have come, and by their march through my country, in
different directions, destroyed the crops, poor as they were,

and have helped themselves to the water that irrigated my
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lands, made doubly valuable in this year of scarcity.” “I  1s39.
might have allied myself,” he added, “with Persia and
lhmm, but I have seen you safely throu;_,h the great defile
of the Bolan, and, yet I am unrewarded.” The reward he
sought was, that ho might be relieved for ever from the
mastery of the Suddozye kings; but, instead of this, it was
made a condition of any kind of peaceable negotiation with
him, that he should pay homage to Shuh Soojah in his
camp.  Reluctantly bowing to the hard nccessity, he con-
sented, and the treaty was sealed. The English undertook to
pay him an annual subsidy of a lakh and a half of rupecs, in
return for which he was to do his best to obtain supplies for
us, and to keep open the passes for our convoys. Burnes saw
clearly that he had to deal in this instance with a man of great
shrewdness and abilitv. He was warned by the chief th'xt the
expedition on which the English had embarked had the seeds
of failure within it. ¢ The Khan,” wrote Burnes to Mac-
naghten, ““ with a good deal of carnestness, enlarged upon the
undertaking the British had ombarked i in; declared it to be
one of vast magnitude and difficult accomplishment; that
mstead of rchm(r on the Afghan nation, our Government had
cast them aside, and mund.xtod the country with foreign
troops; that if it was our end to establish ourselves in
Afchanistan, and give Shah Soojah the nominal sovereignty
of Caubul and (,andahar, We WgUe pursuing an erromeous
coursc; that all the Afghans were discontented with the
Shah, and all Mahomedans alarmed and excited at what was
passing ; that day by day men returned discontented, and we
might ﬁud ourselves awkwardly situated if we did not point
out to Shah Soojah his errors, if tho fault ori iginated with him,
and alter them if they sprung from ourselves ; that the chief
of Caubul (Dost Mahomed) was a man of ability and re-
source, and though we could easily put him down by Shah
Soojah even in our present mode of procedure, we could never
win over the Afghan nation by it.”  Truer words than these
were seldom spoken ; and often, doubtless, as events developed
themselves in Afghauistan, did Burnes think over the warn-
ings of that ill-fated Khelat chief.

How the British army entered Afghanistan, how Dost The inva
Mahomed was driven out of the country, how the people for a of Afghar
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while sullenly acquiesced in the revolution, which was accom-
plished by the force of British bayonets and the influence of
British gold, are matters which belong to history. The
further we advanced, the more difficult bcc‘uno the solution
of the question, “What is to be done with Sir Alexander
Burnes ?” At one time thero was somo thought of his going
to Herat, but this was abandoned.  On the 18th of June, ho
wroto from Candahar to one of his brothers, saving : ¢ In
possession of Candahar, the affairs of Herat first engaged our
attention, and I was nominated to proceed there with guns
and moncy to make a treaty. After being all ready to go,
Macnaghten announced his intention of going back to Simlah,
and suggested my going on to Caubul to take charge of the
mission.  When he went, I at once chose to go to Caubul,
for the policy of Government in Herat aflairs T do not like.
A King at Caubul and another at Herat ave ¢ two Kings at
Breatford,” from which 1 foresce serious evils, I wished
them to put all under Shah Soojah, but after Stoddart had
been ejected, voung Pottinger allowed himselt to he apolo-
gised to for their threatening to murder him, and the oppor-
tunity was lost. The wretches have again quarrelled with
l’ottnwor, and cut oft' a hand of one of his servants 3 but this
also is for the present made up, and Major Todd starts to-
morrow for Herat, and 1 predict can do nothing, for nothing
is to be done with them,  Kamran is an imbecile, and the
Minister, Yar Mahomed, is a bold but doubtful man. . . . .
The Kum and I are mmt friends, but I cannot shut my eves
to the fact that he lms nothing in common with the chief of
Caubul. But he is lcgltmmte, and that is a great point ; and
we are to keep him on the throne, so tlmt 1 think things will
go much better than is generally believed.

Shah Soojah was rc.stomd to the Balla Hissar of Caubul, and
Sir Alexander Burnes settled down into & most anomalous and
unsatisfactory position. Ie had no power and no responsi-
bility. He gave advice which was seldom taken, and he saw
things contmually going wrong without any power to set them
rmht It is impossible to conccive any more unpleasant situa-
t10n than that which for more than two years—during the
latter part of 1839, and all through 1840 and 1841—he oc-
cupied at the Court of Caubul. If, at that time, he had not
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been sometimes irritable, and sometimes desponding, he would
have been more or less than a man. He had been taught to
believe that Macnaghten had been sent only for a little space
into Afghanistan, to he soon removed to a higher office, and
then that he himself would be placed in the supreme direction
of affairs. But month after month—nay, year after year—
passc |, and there was no change ; and Burnes began to write
somewhat bitterly of the good faith of the Governor-General,
and to contrast his conduct with the soft words of the man
who had spoken so kindly and encouragingly to him on the
“couch at Bowood.” His correspondence at this time reflects,
as in a glass, a mind altogether unsettled, if not discontented.
He wanted active, stirring work ; and, save on rare occasions,
there was little or none for him.  He was disappointed, too,
and perhaps somewhat embittered ; for a great crop of honours
had resulted from this invasion of Afghanistan.  Sir John
Keane had heen made a Peer, and Mr. Macnaghten a Baronet ;
and Burnes thought that his just claim to further distinction
had been ignoved. e might have been reconciled to this, for
his own honours were of very recent growth, if the Governor-
General had placed him in a position of dignity and responsi-
bility.  But there was really nothing to be done for the
Political Necond-in-command. It was at one time discussed
whether he might not he appointed ** Resident at Candabar ;”
but this scheme was abandoned 3 ayd at last Burnes came to
the conclusion that it was his special mission to receive three
thousand rupees o month for the mere trouble of drawing the
money.

Fhere was not one of his correspondents to whom he un-
burdened himself so freely as to his friend Pereival Lord
(then employed i the neighbourhood of Bameean, near the
Hindoo-Koosh), to whom he wrote freely, alike on Afghan
politics and on his own personal position. A few illustrative
extracts from this correspondence may be given here : ¢ Caubul,
November 2, 1839. I have been expecting to hear from you
on this astounding intelligence from Turkistan. I have letters
from Nazir Khan Oollah that leave no doubt of the Russians
having come to Khiva, or being on the road there. Have
they ulterior views or not? Is Herat their end, or Bokhara ?
It is evident that your presence is required at Bokhara, but
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that cannot be in the present distracted stato of the country ;
native agency must be employed, and more than spies. Mac-
naghten has, therefore, resolved on sending Mahomed Hoosein
Karkee to tell the King that his proceedings in not answering
our letters, in threatening our cossids, in féaring Shah Soojah,
are all wrong, with mudl other matter of that kind. “The
officials you will get all in duo time, but this is to give youn
notice that Kar]we is coming to you to get his final instruc-
tions. He is a clever fdlow, and has kllled his pig with the
Dost and the King of Persia, so there is no fear of his taking
their part. He may be bribed by Russia, but that we cannot
help, and it is but right to give the King of Bokhara a chance.
I wish to God you could go yourself, and I know Lord A.
wishes it, but he declares that the country is not safe, and that,
after Stoddart’s fate, ho has a great reluctance to put our
officers in what the Field-Marshal would call a false position.
1 for one believe in all the reports of the advance of Russia.
Of course her fifty regiments may he but ten; but wo had
better look out, sceing the Dost is loose, and Herat with its
walls unprepared.  As a precautionary measure, the Bomhay
column will be halted after Khelat is settled, till wo see what
turns up——" ¢ November 10. Old Toorkistance as you are,
you seem to be quite quicscent.about the Russian movement in
Orgunje, and do not, I imagine from your silence, helieve it,
but I agsure you it is a serious business. I have a letter from
Herat twenty-seven days old confirming it, and giving par-
ticulars about the Vizier, Yar Mahomed Khan, being tampered
with by the Russians, all of which seems to have been con-
cealed from Todd. T am most anxious to hear further, and
have sent a Hindoo on to Khiva itself, who will pass through
your camp in & day or two. I have letters from London ex-

. planatory of Vicovitch’s death, which Count Nesselrode writes

to Lord Palmerston was annoying them, as the Russian Go-
vernment had blamed Simonich, and not Vicovitch——"
“November 22. Here is a curious anecdote for you ; let me have
your opinion. A couple of years before our mission arrived
at Caubul, Vicovitch (the true Vicovitch) came to Bokhars,
called at Ruheem Shah’s relative’s house, and asked him to
send letters to Masson at Caubul for MM. Allard and Vetura.
The King of Bokhara took offence at Vicovitch’s presence, and
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thoe Koosh-Begee sent him off sharp. So the letters were
never sent. This shows an earlier intention to intrigue on the
part of Russia ; but how came Masson not to report this, and
if he reported it, how came he to give, years afterwards,
twenty-one reasonssfor Vicovitch not heing what he was? 1
cannot unravel this. I once spoke of this before to you, and to
no oiher man——" ¢ December 13. How can I say things go
wrong ? Sheets of foolscap are written in praise of the Shah’s
contingent, and, as God is my judge, I tremble every time I
hear of its being employed that it will compromise its officers.
-You cannot, then, imagine I would ever advocate a weak and
yet undisciplined corps garrisoning Bameean.  Your remark
about employing Afghans in Koonee and Khyber, as you may
well imagine, agrees with my own views, but I am not the
Envoy. 1 see European soldiers sent to look after Khyberees,
and as well might they be sent after wild sheep. I see, what
is worse, Craigic’s corps sent after the disaffected at Koonee,
when they are not yet drilled, and when Afghans are quite up
to the work.  From all this I see that Shah Soojah never can
be left without a British army, for his own contingent will
never be fit for anything——"" ¢ January 7, 1840. I will send
vou a letter from Lord Auckland to me, wishing again to
make meo Resident at Candahar, but not to go there unless it
‘pleased’ me. T replied to Macnaghten that this useless cor-
respondence had been going on since August, and it was high
time to do what had been proposei—to give me Resident’s
pay. Imprisoning rupees and reading are now my engage-
ments, and I have begun the year with a resolution of making
no more suggestions, and of only speaking when spoken to. T
do not say this in ill humour—quite the reverse. A screw
from Machiavelli supports me. ¢ A man who, instead of act-
ing for the hest, acts as ke ought, secks rather his ruin than his
proservation’—" ¢ January 11. Lord Auckland took a step
in sending an army into this country contrary to his own
judgment, and hoe cares not a sixpence what comes of the
policy, so that he gets out of it. All the despatches plainly
prove this; and Macnaghten now begins to see his own false
position, suggests remedies, and finds himself for the first time
snubbed by the very Governor-General whose letters have
been hitherto a fulsome tissue of praise. The Envoy sees that

1839—40
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Russia is coming on, that Herat is not what it ought to have
been—ours, and his dawning experience tells him that, if not
for us, it is against us. What says Lord Auckland? ¢ I dis-
agree with you. Yar Mahomed is to be conciliated. Russia
is friendly to England, and I do not credis her advance on us,
though she may have an expedition against Khiva. I wonder,’
adds his Lordship to the Envoy, ¢ that you should countenance
attacks on Herat contrary to treaty” (who made that tre: ity ?
Macnaghten 1) ; ¢ that you should seek for more troops in
Afcrhamst.m. It is your duty to rid Afghanistan of troops.’

All vor y fine, but mark the remlt——("nhnnn loss of influence,

and with it loss of rupees.  In these important times, what
occupies the King and this Envoy 7 The cellars of his Majesty’s
palace have been lls(}([ as powder-magazines to prev ent a mosque
being ¢ desecrated.”  Thev would have heen pat in the citadel,
but his Mujesty objected, as they overlooked his harem! This
objection dire necessity has removed, and to the citadel they
have gone. Read the enclosures, and see what is said of
Cn]oncl Dennic’s occupying, not the palace, but & house out-
side, held formerly by sw vop(\rs' and Hindoos! Trom this, in
the nudst of winter, thnuoh Brigadier, he has heen ¢jected

but he declares hefore God that it s]mll be the Governor-
General alone who turns him out.  These are the occupations
of the King and Envoy.  See what Sir W, Cotton says of it.

In Persia, in Egypt, in Museat, the guests of the Sov ereigns
oceupy palaces, 'md Shah \ooyth declares he will resign “his
throne if he be so insulted—insulted by the contamination of
those men who bled for him and placed him where he is.
What, my dear Lord, do I mean by all this?  Fz uno disce
omnes.  Be silent, pocket your pay, do nothing but what you
are ordered, and you will give high satisfaction.  They will
sacrifice you and me, or any one, without caring a straw.
This does not originate from vice, I believe, but from ignorance,
Drowning men catch at straws, and whenever anything goes
wrong, other backs must bear the brand. An exposé of the
policy from the day we were bound hand and foot at Lahore,
till Shah Soojah threatened to resign his throwe because of the
cellars of his palace being occupied by munitions of war when
Russia was on the Oxus, would make a book which all future
diplomatists could never in blunder surpass; but why should
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it be otherwise? The chief priest, ere he started, asked if
Khiva were on the Indus! Bah! I blame the Governor-
General for little; if* he is a timid man, he is a good man.
W. hoodwinked him about Caubul when I was here; another
now hoodwinks him." The one cost us two millions, the other
will cost us ten. His Lordship has just written to me to give
him m) say on public matters. Am I a fool? He does not
want truth ; he wants support, and when I can give it I shall
do so loudly ; when I cannot, I shall be silent——"" ¢ Jan, 26,
They have been at me again to write ¢ on the prospects of the
restored Government,’ as I think T told you before. I am no
such gaby. If they really wanted truth, I would give it
cordially, but it is a chiming-in—a coincidence of views which
they seck ; and I can go a good way, but my conscience has
not so much stretch as to approve of this dynasty. But, mum
—Ilet that be between ourselves ? 4 Feb. 18. The Envoy
is, or pretends to be, greatly annoyed at my being left out of
the list of the honoured, and has written four letters on it;
three to me, and one to Nicolson. I am not in the least sur-
prised.  Every month brings with it proofs of Lord A.’s
hostility or dislike. Serves me right. I ought never to have
come here, or allowed myself to be pleased with fair though
fulse words. As a sample, look ; they burked the paragraph
on me in Sir John (Baron) Keane’s despatch because I was a
political. Next fight at Khelat, the paragraph on the political
Bean is printed. I bide my time, and I may be set down
as highly presumptuous; but if I live, I expect to be a
G.C.B. instead of a C.B.——" ¢ February 28. You tell me
to accept the Residency at Candahar; it is “well I refused
it.  The.Court of Directors have officially sanctioned it, and
Lord Auckland says I am to have Resident’s pay, but to
be Political Agent! ILid you ever? However, my refusal
had gone in, backed by Macnaghten, and they make me
Resident at Caubul, but I expect nothing from them after such
base ingratitude. The roasons why I refused Candahar were,
that I should be as dependent there as here, with a certainty
of collision in Herat affairs, over which I was to have ¢ some
control.” Now I could not have had that without making my
silence my dishonesty, and I resolved on ‘biding my time’
here. I have heard no more of the Shal’s move to Candahar ;
YOI 11, E
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it is necessary on many accounts ; but it may not take place on
that account——"" ¢ March4. There is no two days’ fixity of
purpose—no plan of future policy, external or internal, on
which you can depend a week, The bit-by-bit system pre-
vails. Nothing comprehensive is looked to; the details of the
day suffice to fill it up, and the work done is not measured by
its importance, but by being work, and this work consists of
details and drawing money. We are in & fair way of proving
all Mr. Elphinstone said in his letter to me, and I for one
begin to think Wade will be the luckiest of us all to be away
from the break-down ; for, unless a new leaf is turned over,
break down we shall.”

Though condemned thus painfully to official inactivity, tho
rostless spirit of Alexander Burnes was continually embracing
all the great questions which the antagonism of England and
dtussig in Central Asia were then throwm(r up for practical
solution. He had made up his own mind very (listinctly upon
the subject. He somewhat exaggerated the aggrossive designs
of Russia; but, starting from suclx premises, he was lnmwlly

right in contending that our best policy was to strengthen

ourselves in Afghanistan, and not to endeavour cither to op-
pose by arms or to baffle by diplomacy the progress of the
Muscovite in Central Asia. There were other British officers,
however, in the Afchan dominions at that time, who, thinking
less of Russian aggressiveness and more of Central Asian pro-
vocations, felt that much good might he effected by penceful
mediation—especially by the good work of endeavouring to
liberate the Russian subjects, who had been carried off into
slavery by the man-stealers of those barbarous States.* 1t re-
mained for a later gencration to eidorse these views, and to
believe that England and Russia might act harmoniously to-
gether in Central Asia in the interests of universal humanity,
Very steadfastly and persistently did Burnes set his face
against them. His own opinions were stated most emphatically
in letters, which he addressed to Sir William Macnaghten in
this year: “I have just receivod your very interesting letter
of the 13th,” he wrote to the Envoy, on the 16th of April,

“ with its enclosure, an extract from the Governor-General’s

* 1 touch but cursorily on this sub- more fully in subsequent Memoirs of
ject here, because it will be illustrated Arthur Conolly and D'Arcy Todd,
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letter regarding the designs of Russia. I now feel somewhat
at ease since his Lordship has become cognisant of the real
stato of affairs on our frontier, as we shall no longer be acting
on & blind relianco that the expodmon to Khiva was small, and
would be unsuccessful, when it is an army composed of the
dlite of their empire, a.nd has made good its lodgment on the
delta of the Oxus. After the Punic faith which Russia has
exhibited, I confess [ was astonished to see Lord Clanricarde
put trust in what Count Nesselrode told him of the strength
of the Russian force, and you may re]y upon it that we are
better judges of what Russia is doing in Turkistan than our
ambassador at St. Petershurg, and 1 hope the correctness of
all our information from first to last will now lead to the most
implicit reliance being hereafter placed upon it.  One corre-
spondent may exaggerate and distort, but it is not in the
nature of falschood to be consistent ; and of inconsistency we
have had none, the cry being that Russia has entered Turkistan
with the design of setting up her influence there, and that
(whether her ruler or ministers admit it or not) her object is
to disturb us in Afghanistan. European intelligence confirms
all this ; and with a failing peculiarly her own, Russia has, for
the present, left the Turkish question to be settled by England
and France, and even in her gencrosity agreed to open the
Black Sea. ¢ Timeo Danaos et dona ferentes.”  Fifmly im-
pressed with these views, they tinctrre all my thoughts and
opinions, and, in consequence, lead me to hope that our every
nerve will be strained to consolidate Afghanistan, and that
nothing of any kind, political or military, may take place

lmmul the passes.  Had we force sufticient, the oceupation of

Balkh might not be a bad military move, and one which would,
in truth, show ‘an imposing attitude ;” but with Russia at

Khiva, and negotiating for the residence of a permanent -  {

ambassador at Bok]mm, we shall at once precipitate a col-
lision with her by such a step, and with our present force I
consider it hopeless, even if our rear were clear, which it is
not. The attitude of the Sikhs towards us is that of undis-
guised hostility, and on both our front and rear we have cause
for deep reflection—TI will not say alarm, for I do not admit
it; we have only to play the good game we have begun, and
exhibit Shah Soojah as the 1}3&1 King, to triumph over our dif-
S B2
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ficulties. The security from that triumph, however, is not an
advance to Turkistan, but first a quieting of our rear, and re-
dress of grievances at home. You will guess, then, what I
think of any of our officers going in any capacity to Turkistan,
to Khiva, Bokhara, or Kokund. I regarded Abbott’s departuro
to Khiva as the most unhappy step taken during the campaign,
and his language at Khiva, which will all bo repeated to Russia,
places us in a position far more equivocal than Russia was
placed in by Vicovitch being here. We had no ground of
complaint against Dost Mahomed (till he joined our enemies),
and two great European powers merely wished for his friend-
ship; but Russia has at Khiva just grounds for complaint, and
still Captain Abbott tells the Khan that he must have no com-
munication with Russia, but release her slaves, and have done
with her. It is well to remember that Russia has extensive
trade pessing through Khiva, and that the proclamation of war
declares that the object of the cxpedition is to redress the
merchants for exactions. Is England to become security for
barbarous hordes some thousands of miles from her frontier ?
If not, Captain Abbott’s promises and speeches must com-
promise us. I observe you proceed on the supposition that
Russia wants only her slaves released, but this is one of ‘en
demands only ; and instead of our language, thercfore, being
pertinent on that head, that we insist on her relief, it means
nothing, for Captain Abbott tells us that the Khan had offered
to release them all, and I know that the King of Bokhara has
made a treaty to that effect, and acts up to it ; for Captain A.
likewise confirms the information frequently reported, that the
King there is bought by Russia. "We have in consequence, I
think, no business in Khiva, and, however much we may wish
it, none in Bokhara. The remaining State is Kokund, and wo
shall know the probable good of a connexion with it. In my
letter to A. Conolly, I enclosed some ¢ observations on sending
& ruission to Khiva,’ but I did not then discuss the policy of
the King. I merely, in reply to Conolly’s request for hints,
pointed out the difficulties of the road and of communication
when there. But my first question is the cui bono of this
mission in & political point of view? In a geographical one, no
one can doubt its high expediency. 'What are we to get from
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it? Nothing, I see, but to attach to ourselves just and de- 1840,
served roproach for interfering with Russia in ground already
occupied by her merchants, and ground far beyond our own
line of operations. The measure will irritate Russia, who will
at onco march on Balkh to assert her just position, as she calls
it, in Central Asia; and then, indeed, the Governor-Greneral’s
surmises will be proved. It will give uncasiness to ¢ all sur-
rounding States, and add difficulty to the game which we havo
to play.’ DBut one very serious obstacle to all interference
with Turkistan has apparently heen overlooked. Russia is not
engaged alone in the enterprise. She has her ally of Persia,
and ambassadors, too, to seek the release of the Persian slaves,
Are wo prepared to insist on this, and reconstruct the whole
fabric of society by marching back some two or three hundred
thousand slaves ? If not, our proceedings are neither consonant
with humanity nor the rights of nations ; and if they are, the
only chance of success is to leave Russia alone, or to aid her
with a military force ; the former the only judicious course for
usto pursue. Ihave been thus earnest on this very momentous
question from the anxiety which I feel to see our cause flourish,
and our good name preserved. It is not the question of Lord
or Conolly going. That is a mere trifle, which does.not call
for a moment's consideration. I believe the deputation of any
one to Turkistan at this time to be a serious error. If it is to
be, I shall, of course, do all I can by information, and by
getting good people to assist the officers sent ; but T hope you
will excuse my beseeching you to weigh the step well beforo it
is taken.  Rely upon it, the English Cabinet can alone settle .
thi€ question, and it must be at London or St. Petersburg, and
not at Kokund, Bokhara, or Khiva, that we are to counteract -
Russia. Let us arown the passes. Let an engineer be forth- .
with sent to map thcm, and let grain (as you have just pro-
posed) be stored behind them at Bameean. Let alarm be -
allayed by our not appearing to stir overmuch; for Caubul is
the place for the corps d’armée, and not Bameean, which/
should be its outwork,'and, as such, strengthened. We should
have done with dealing with the Qosbegs, for it is time. In
Khiva wo have our agent detained. At Bokhara, poor
Btoddart’s captivity reflects seriously upon our character, and
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- damages it here; while in Kokund I see no possible good
likely to flow, even from the most splendid success attending
the agent, and, on the contrary, much chance of evil.”

L,1820.  Some three or four weeks after this letter was written,
Macnaghten orally proposed that Burnes himself should pro-
ceed on a mission to the Russian camp. Burnes roplied that
he would go if he were ordered ; and after the interview,
having thought well over the matter, he wrote on tho samo
evening a letter to the Envoy, saying: ¢ With reference to
our conversation this morning, when I stated my readiness to
proceed to General Peroffski’s camp with alacrity, if the
Governor-General would but grant to me credentials and
powers to act as stated in Lord Palmerston’s letter—i. . to
tell the Russian General if he sought to subvert the political
influence of the Khan of Khiva, aﬁor due reparation had been
made to him, and did not withdraw his force, Great Britain
would consider Russia in the light of an enemy—another view
of the subject has since struck me—Will you, as tho repre-
sentative of the British nation, grant to me such credentials
and powers? Lord Auckland requested you to communicate
with the Russian General by a messenger, but the interests of
the public service have pointed out to you the propriety of
deviating from such instructions in so far as to send an officer
instead of a messenger. With the explicit views, then, of the
British Cabinet transmitted officially to you by the Governor-
General, do you feel yourself authorised to draw up credentials
empowering me to go as far as the Secretary of State for
Foreign Affairs has gone? If so, I am ready, without await-
ing the Governor-General’s repTy, to undertake the mission, as
1 then see in it a chance of gaining the ends of our Govern-
ment without risking any little reputation I may have. If, on
the other hand, you merely mean to convey to Genera.l
Peroffski a hopd, or request by letter, that he will not
exceed the Emperor’s instructions, this will be but the duty of
a courier, and as my personal insight would thus fall below
zero, I have no desire to undertake the journey ; though even
then, as I have reported to Conolly and yourseif, I will pro~
ceed there, if you are of opinion it is desirable, and you think
I can advance the public interests. If, however, you do not
feel yourself authorised to grant to me the powers which seem
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necessary, your letter of to-day to Lord Auckland may, per- 1840
haps, draw such credentials from his Lordship, and if so, I
shall hold myself in’readiness on their arrival here to follow
Conolly to the Russian camp, taking, if possible, the Oxus as
my route, by which I could reach Khiva with great expedi-
tion, and to political objects add a knowledge of that river,
now so important to'us.”

But before there was any necessity to bring this question to
the point of practical solution, intelligence was received at
Caubul which consigned it to the limbo of vanities and
abortions. Another mission had procecded to the Russian
camp—a mission from Heaven in the shape of that great white
enemy, which was destined at a later date to put our own
armies to confusion.  Peroffski’s legions were arrested by the
destroying snow, and decimated by pestilence and famine.
This source of inquietude was, therefore, removed, and Burnes
was again driven back into inactivity.* The summer passed
quictly over his head, but the autumn found him and all his
countrymen at Caubul in a state of extreme excitement. Dost Dost Maho-
Mahomed was again in arms against the Feringhees, who had ;']‘1‘;‘1';;’"
driven him from his country. He was coming down from the
regions beyond the Hindoo-Koosh, raising the tribes on the
way, and calling on the children of the Prophet to expel the
usurping unbelievers. A British force was sent into the
Kohistan, under the command of Sir Robert Sale; and
Burnes went with it in chief political control of the expedi-
tion. How badly everything fared with us at the first may bo
gathered from the fact that the latter wrote to the Envoy,
saying that there was nothing left for our troops but to fall

* When men — especially men of
active habits—have very little to do,
they are frequently disturbe. by small
troubles, which, at times of greater

* activity, would pass unnoticed. At this
period Burnes was greatly irritated by
some comments on Afghan affairs in
the Calcutta and Agra papers. With
reference to a letter in the Agra Ukhbar,
which had reflected on some of the pro-
ceedings of Dr, Lord, Burnes wrote to
his friend, saying: “I think that a
simple letter under yohr name calling
the man a cowardly slanderer and n
_villain, or gome such choice word,

would be a good mode of rebutting
him,” As if truth were to be esta-
Llished by calling men hard names! In
another letter Burnes wrote to Lord:
“You have a viper in your Artillery
named Kaye, who writes in the /[ur-
karu,” &c. &e. The viper referred to
is the writer of this book. I had, asa

young man, perhaps a little too fond of

my pen, emphatically protested against
our entire policy in Afghanistan, and
predicted its speedy collapse—which
prediction, in the first flush of success,
my countrymen in Indlia, with few ex-
ceptions, were wont to deride. -
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back on Caubul, and thére to concentrate all our strength.
This was on the 2nd of November—a day of evil omen ; for
then Burnes’s days were numbered by ‘the days of a single
year. He saw the last victorious chargp of the Ameer; he
saw our troops flying before him; he saw his friends and
associates, Broadfoot and Lord, fall mortally wounded from
their horses; and he himself narrowly escaped. This was but
the darkest hour before the dawn. On the following day
Dost Mahomed surrendered himself to the British Envoy, and,
instead of a formidable enemy, became a harmless State prisoner.
Then the spirits of Burnes and of his associates at Caubul began
to rise. Writing a few weeks afterwards to one of his brothers,
he said : “ Caubul, November 24, 1840. I have been too much
occupied these two months past to write to you, and though it
has pleased Providence to crown our efforts with success, and
to permit me to play a prominent part, I have yet to mourn
the loss of two very dear friends, Dr. Lord and Lieutenant
Broadfoot. How I escaped unscathed God only knows., I
have a ball which fell at my feet, and of three political officors,
I have alone lived to tell the tale.  Make no parade of these
facts. My interview with Dost Mahomed Khan was very in-
teresting and very affectionate. He taunted me with nothin »,
said I was his best friend, and that he had come in on a letter
I had written to him. This I disbelieve, for we followed him
from house to house, and he was obliged to suwrrender. On
that letter, however, I hope I shall have got for him an annual
stipend of two lakhs of rupees instead of' one. On our parting,
I gave him an Arab horse; and what think you he gave me?
His own, and only sword, and which is stained with blood.
He left this for India some fourteen days ago, and is to live at
Loodiana. In Kohistan I saw a failure of our artillery to
breach, of our European soldiers to storm, and of our cavalry
to charge and yet God gave us the victory. And now
Kurruck Singh is dead, and Now Nihal, the new ruler of the
Punjab, killed while atmndmw his futhers funeral by a gate
falling on him, Shere Singh reigns in his stead. Read the
prediction in my Travels, vol. i., pp. 298-9, second edition, on
this head. If we could turn over a new leaf here, we might
soon make Afghanistan a barrier. You regret about my name
and the Russians, Nine-tenths of what is attributed to me I



HERAT AND THE PUNJAB, 57

never said, but I did say the Russians were coming, and that, 1840,
too, on 31st of October, 1839, and come they did; and Lord
Auckland would never believe it till March, 1840! He heard
from London and from Khiva of the failure simultancously,
and they wonder why we did not hear sooner. We have no
mail coaches here, and hence the explanation. From Orenburg
to London is eighteen days ; from Bokhara to Caubul is thirty.
‘We have no intelligence yet of a second expedition, and I hope
none will come, The state of Afghanistan for the last year
will show you how much reason we had to fear the Czar’s
approach.”

After this, the horizon was clear for a little spaco, and 1841,
there was a lull in the political atmosphere. But with the New troubles.
now year came new troubles. There was a crisis at Herat;
and the tribes in Western Afghanistan were rising against
the King and his supporters.  'With these things Burnes had
little to do in any active capacity. Ho wrote letters and
minutes, and gave advice, clearly seeing that everything was
going wrong. “Iam now a highly paid idler,” he wrote to
one of his brothers, * having no less than 3500 rupees a
month, as Resident at Caubul, and being, as the lawyers call
ity only counsel, and that, too, a dumb one—by which I
mean that I give paper opinions, but do not work them out.”
He had, however, become more contented with his lot. He
ceased to chafe at what scemed, for a time at least, to be in-
evitable ; and enjoying, as best he could, the blessings of the
present, he looked forward to a future, then apparently not
very remote, when his cnergics might find freer scope for
action, for it was believed that a higher official post would
soon be found for Macnaghten. He was in excellent health
at this time, and his fine animal spirits sparkled pleasantly
in all his letters to his friends. On the st of April he wrote
to Montrose, saying: “ We had no sooner got Dost Ma-
homed Khan into our power than Herat breaks with us,
and the Punjab becomes a scene of strife. Out of both con-
tingencies we might extract good—real, solid good ; we may
restore the lost wings of Afghanistan, Herat, and Peshawur
to Bhah Soojah, and thus enable him to support himself, free
us from the expense of Afghanistan, and, what would be
better, withdraw our regular army within the Indus, leaving
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Caubul as an outpost; which we could thus succour with
readiness. . . . I lead, however, a very pleasant life, and if
rotundity and heartiness be proofs of héalth, I have them.
My house I taboo at all hours but brea.lgfast, which I have
long made a public meal. I have covers laid for eight, and
half a dozen of the officers drop in as they feel dxspoqed every
morning, discuss a rare Scotch breakfast of smoked fish,
salmon O'rxlls, devils, and jellies, puff away at their cigars till
ten (the hour of assembly being nine), then I am left to
myself till evening, when my frlend Broadfoot (who is my
assmtunt) and I s1t down to our quiet dinner, and discuss
with our Port inen and manners. Once in every week I give
a party of eight, and now and then I have my intimntes
alone, and as the good river Indus is a channel for luxuries as
well as commerce, I can place before my friends at one-third
in excess of the Bombay price my champagne, hock, madeira,
sherry, pory, claret, sauterne, not forgetting a glass of curacon
and maraschino, and the hermetically-sealed salmon and
hotch-potch (veritable hotch-potch, all the way frac Aber-
deen), for deuced good it is, the peas as big as if they had
been soaked for bristling. 1 sce James Duke is an alderman
of London; he will be Lord Mayor, and then all the smacks
of Montrose will flee to London with fine young men for his
patronage. A Duke and a Mayor! These are wonderful
changes, but I am glad of it, for he is said to be a real good
fellow, and deserves his prosperity. I remember he used to
git beforec us in the Kirk, and in his hat wero written, ¢ Re-
member the eighth commandment and Golgotha,’ so he will
be a terror to evil-doers assuredly. Bravo, say L T wish I
were provost mysel’ here; I would be as happy as the Lord
Mayor.”

It is not improbable that the enforced inactivity of which
Alexander Burnes, at this period of his career, so often wroto,
was in one sense greatly to his advantage. It often happens
that men who lead very active and stirring Jives fail, in the
midst of their day-to-day excitements, to take that just view
of surrounding circumstances which they wotld have taken,
with more leisure on their hands and better opportunities of
far-roaching observation. We cannot “ see, as from a tower,
the end of all,” when we arc wrestling with a crowd at its
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base. Burnes, as s looker-on, saw clearly and distinctly what
Macnaghten did not see—that we were interfering a great
deal too much in Afghanistan, and that the best thing for the
restored monarchy would be that we should take less trouble
to support it. After an outbreak, fatally mismanaged by the
Western Ghilzyes, he wrote to Major Lynch, in June, saying :
“T am 1ot cognisant of all which you relate regarding affairs
in your quarter, but I am sorry to tell you that I am one of
those altogether opposed to any further fighting in this
country, and that I consider we shall never settle Afghanistan
at the point of the bayonet. And this opinion, which I have
so long held, T am glad to see has been at length adopted in
Calcutta, and will be our future guide. As regards the
Grhilzyes, indeed, immense allowances ought to be made for
thom; they were, till within three generations, the Kings of
Af'«rlmustan, and garried their victorious arms to the capital
of Persia. It is expecting too much, therefore, to hope for
thoir being at once peaceful subjects.” And again on the
1st of August, to another correspondent: ¢ Pottinger under-
takes an awful risk in China. M‘Neill ought not to go to
Persia; he deserves Constantinople, and I hope will get it.

Lord Auckland will not pardon poor Todd, and here again I
predicted failure there, and am scowled at for being a true
prophet ; but certes, if Herat has gone over to Persia we are
in a greater mess than ever, but I hope the return of our
ambassador to Persia will set all this right. For my part, I
would send no one to Persia or to Herat ; I would withdraw
all but two brigades within the Indus, and these I would
withdraw, one in next year, and one in the year after next,
and leave the Shah to his own contingent and his Afghans,
and I, as Envoy, would stake my character on this—We
shall be ruined if this xpense goes on.’

At last, in this autumn of 1841, news came that Sir William Self-com-

Macnaghten had been appointed Governor of Bombay; but,
even then, there were reports that some veteran pohtlcal oﬁ’wer
would be sent up from the Provinces to occupy his seat. It
was a period of distressing doubt and anxiety to the expectant
minister. In the midst of his perplexities, he was wont to
soek solace in his books. His favourite author was Tacitus, in
whose writings he road lessons of wisdom, which, he said,

mun
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were of infinite service to him in the practical affairs of life.
Some extracts from the journal, which he kept in this year,
will show how, in the enforced inactivity of his anomalous
position, he gathered knowledge from his library, which he
might some day, he thought, turn to good account. At all
events, such studies diverted his mind and alleviated the pains
of the suspense to which he was condemned: ¢ Caubul,
August 13. Read in the thirteenth and fourteenth books
of the Annals of Tacitus. What lessons of wisdom and
knowledge—how the human mind and its passions are laid
bare! I drink in Tacitus, and, perhaps, with the more relish,
that his lessons are of practical use——" ¢ Aug. 19. Horaco
Walpole’s letters, how inimitable! He is only surpassed by
Byron, of all letter-writers I have read; yet Walpole’s de-
tails of trifles, and trifling on details, are inimitable. I have
got a grand edition, and cke out the six volumes, that I may
enjoy it all vo my full—" ¢ Aug. 24. Reading Sir Sidney
Smith’s life. 1t supports an opinion of mine, that all great
men have more or less charlatanerie——" ¢ Aug. 26. This
is assuredly one of the idle stages in my life. I do nothing
for the public, unless it be giving advice, but, as I have none
to perform, unless it be to receive my 3500 rupees a month.
At Bhooj, in 1829, I had similar idleness, and I improved
myself. Again, in 1835, I was similarly situated, and sincoe
May, 1839, I have been so circumstanced here. I conclude
that my pay is assigned to me for past conduct and duties ;
however, as my Lord Auckland is about to depart, I have
little chance of being disturbed in my lair in his day ; it may
be otherwise. To study Tacitus is as pleasant as to write
despatches——"" ¢ Sept. 1. An expression from Macnaghten
to-day that Shah Soojah was an old woman, not fit to rule
his pepple, with divers other condemnations. Ay, sec my
Travels, and as far back as 1831—ten years ago. Still I
look upon his fitness or unfitness as very immaterial ; we are
here to govern for him, and must govern——"" - ¢ Sept. 10.
Somewhat contemplative. This is certainly an important
time for me. Of supersession I have no fear, but those in
power may still keep Macnaghten over me, and much as he
objects to this, it enables Lord Auckland to move off, and
evade his promises to me. Alas! I did not believe my first
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interview with the long, tall, gaunt man on the couch at Bo-
wood was to end thus——"" ¢ Sept. 22. The Envoy is afraid
of the King’s health. * A native predicts his death ; he is not
long-lived, I plainly see. If he dies, we were planning the
modug operandi. 1 offered to go to Candahar, and bring up
the new King Timour, and I predict he will make a good ruler.
I question myself how far I am right in avoiding corre-
spondence with Lord Lansdowne, Mr. Elphinstone, and all my
numerous friends in England, or even with Lord Auckland ;
yet I believe I am acting an honest part to Macnaghten and to
Government, and yet neither the one nor the other, I fear,
thank me; yet it is clear that if I had carried on a hot corre-
spondence with Lord Auckland, as he wished me, I must
have injured Macnaghten, and had I, in this correspondence,
evaded those points on which his Lordship was interested, I
should have injured mysclf in his eyes, and consequently as a
public servant. In after days I hope to be able to applaud
my own discretion in this my difficult position; but I may
fail altogether by my honesty, though I have always found it
the best policy——"" ¢ Sept. 24. I haveread with great relish
and enjoyment the first volume of Warren Hastings’s life, and
with great admiration for the man, founded on his many
virtues and noble fortitude, and that, too, on the evidence of
his letters, and not his biography —" ¢ October 16. I seem
hourly to loso my anxiety for power and place; yet away with
such feelings, for if I be worth anything, they ought to have
. no hold of me. I have just read in Guizot’s Life of Wash-
ington: ¢ In men who are worthy of the destiny (to govern),
all weariness, all sadness, though it be warrantable; is weak-
ness ; their mission 1s toil; their reward, the success of their
works ;* but still in toil I shall become weary if employed.
Will they venture, aftex all that has been promised, and all
that I have done, to puss me over? I doubt it much ; if so,
the past will not fix a stain on me, and the future is dark and
doubtful. Ilmve boen asking myself if I am altogether so
well fitted for the supreme control here as I am disposed to
believe. I sometimes think not, but I have never found
myself fail in power when unshackled. On -one point I am,
however, fully convinced, I am unfit for the second place; in
it my irritation wonld mar all business, and in supersession

1841,
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there is evidently no recourso but England. I wish this
doubt were solved, for anxiety is painful. One trait of my
character is thorough seriousness; I &m indifferent about
nothing I undertake—in fact, if I underfake a thing I cannot
be indifferent.”

The anniversary of his arrival in India came round.
Twenty years had passed since he had first.sot his foot on the
strand of Bombay. Seldom altogether free from supersti-
tions and presentiments, he entered upon this 31st of October,
1841, with a vivid impression that it would bring forth some-
thing upon which his whole future life would turn. ¢ Ay!
what will this day bring forth?” he wrote in his journal,
““the anniversary of my twenty years’ service in India. It
will make or mar me, I suppose. Before the sun sets I shall
know whether I go to Europe or succeed Macnaghten.” But
the day passed, and the momentous question was not settled.
Tkon November dawned, and neither Burnes nor Macnaghten
received the desired letters from Calcutta—only vague news-
paper reports, which added new fuel to the doubts and
anxieties of the expectant Envoy. ¢TI grow very tired of
praise,” he wrote in his journal, “and I suppose that I shall
get tired of censure in time.” This was his last entry. There
was no more either of praise or of censure to agitate him in
this world.  Already the bitter fruit of folly and injustice had
ripened upon the tree of Retribution, and the nation which
had done this wrong +thing was about to be judged by the
“ eternal law, that where crime is, sorrow shall answer it.”
The Afghans are an avaricious and a revengeful people.  Our

. only settled policy in Afghanistan was based upon the faith

that by gratifying the one passisn we might hold the other in
control.  So money was spent frecly in Afghanistan. Wo
bought safety and peace. But when it was found that this
enormous expenditure was impoverishing our Indian Empire,
and that the Afghans were still crying ¢ Give—give!” we
were driven upon the unpopular necessity of retrenchment,
and it ceased to be worth the while of the people to tolerate
our occupation of the country. First ane tribe and then
another rose against us ; and at last the people at the capital
began to Dostir themselves. Already, on the 1st of Novomber,
were the streets of Caubul seething with insurrection, and the
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house of Bir Alexander Burnes was in the city perilously
exposed to attack. His Afghan servants told him that he
was in danger, and, exhorted him to withdraw to the can-
tonments. He said that he had done the Afghans no injury;
why, then, should tfey injure him? He could not think that
any real danger threatened him, and he retired to rest at
night with little fear of the results of the morrow. Little
fear, I should write, for his own personal safety ; but he saw
with sufficient distinctness that a great national crisis was
approaching. When, on that evening, his moonshee, Mohun
Lal, who had accompanied him for many years in his wan-
derings, warned him of the approaching danger, he rose from
his chair, and made, what to his faithful assistant appeared
an ‘““astonishing speech,” to the effect that the time had
arrived for the English to leave the country.* But he could
not be induced to adopt any precautions. He said that if he
sent for a guard to protect his house, it would seem as though
he were afraid.

So Alexander Burnes laid himself down to rest ; and slept.
But wich the early morrow came the phantoms of new
troubles. Plainly the storm was rising.  First one, then
another, with more or less authority, came to warn him that
“there was ‘“death in the pot.” The first, who called before
daybreak, was not admitted, and Burnes slept on.  But when
the Afghan minister, Oosman Khan, came to the house, the
sorvants woke their master, who rose and dressed himself,

* ] give Mohun Lal's own words,
whicl are all the more interesting for
the cecentricities of the phraseology :
*On the 1st of November,” he wrote to
Mr. Colvin, private secretary to the
Governor-General, 1 saw Sir Alex-
ander Burnes, and told him that the
confederacy has been grown very high,
and we should fear the ccumnequence.
He stood up from his chair, 8 ghed, and
said, he knows nothing but the time
has arrived that we should leave this
country.” In a letter to Dr. James
Burnes, there is a similar atatement,
with the addition that, upon the same
night, an Afghan chief, named Taj
Mahomed, called upon Burnes, to no
purpose, with a like warning: “On the
1st of November I saw him at evening,
and informed him, according to the con-
versation of - Mahomed Meerza Khan,

our great enemy, that the chiefs are
contriving plans to stand against us,
and therefore it will not be safe to re-
main without a sufficient guard in the
city. Ile replied that if he were to ask
the Envoy to send him a strong guard,
it will show that he was fearing; and
at the same (time) he made an asto-
nishing speech, by saying that the time
is not far when we must leave this
country. Taj Mahomed, son of Gholam
Mahomed Khan, the Douranee chief,
came at night to him, and informed
what the chiefs intended to do, but he
turned him out under the pretended
aspect that we do not care for such
things. Our old friend, Naib Sheriff,

came and asked him to allow his son,

with one hundred men, to remain day
and night in his place, till the Ghilzye
affair is settled, but he did not agree.”

1841,
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‘and went forth to receive the Wuzeer. It was no longer
possible to look with incredulity upon the signs and symptoms
around him. The streets were alive with insurgents.
excited crowd was gathering round his house. Still there
might be time to secure safety by ﬂlgﬁt But vainly did
Oosman Khan implore Burnes to accompany him to the can-
tonments. He scorned to quit his post ; he believed that ho
could quell the tumult; and so he rejected the advice that
might have saved him.

That the city was in a state of insurrection was certain ;
but it appeared that a prompt and vigorous demonstration on
the part of the British troops in cantonments might quell the
tumult ; so he wrote to Macnaghten for support, and to some
friendly Afghan chiefs for assistance. It was then too late.
Before any succour could arrive, the crowd before his house
had begun to rage furiously, and it was plain that the in-
surgents were thirsting for the blood of the English officers.
From a gallery which ran along the upper part of the house,
Burnes, attended by his brother Charles, and his friend Wil-
liam Broadfoot, addressed himself to the excited mob. They
yelled out their execration and defiance in reply, and it was
plain that no expostulations or entreaties could turn them
aside from their purpose. The enemy had begun to fire upon
them, and, hopeless as retaliation and resistance might be,
there seemed to be nothing left to the English officers but to
scll their lives as dearly as they could. Broadfoot was soon
shot dead. Then the insurgents set fire to Burnes’s stables,
rushed into his garden and summoned him to come down.
All hope of succour from cantonments, had now gone.  Still
he might purchase his own and his brother’s safoty by ap-
pealing to the national avarice of the Afghans. He offered
them large sums of money if they would suffer him to escape.
Still they called upon him to leave off firing and to come
down to the garden. At last he consented, and the brothers,
conducted by a Cashmeree Mussulman, who had sworn to
protect them, went down to the garden ; but no sooner were
they in the presence of the mob than their guide cried out,
¢ Here is Sekundur Burnes!” And straightway the insur-
gents fell upon them and slew them. .

And so, on the 2nd of November, 1841, fell Alexander
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Burnes, butchered by an Afghan mob. He was only thirty-
six years of age. That he was a remarkable man, and had
done remarkable thifgs, is not to be doubted. He was sus-
tained, from first to last, by that great enthusiasm, of which
Sir John Malcolm has spoken, as the best security for a suc-
cessful Indian carcer. He was of an cager, impulsive,
romantic temperament ; but he had a sufficiency of good
strong practical sense to keep him from running into any
dangerous excesses. He had courage of a high order; saga-
city, penetration, and remarkable quickness of observation.
It hasbeen said of him that he was unstable, that his opinions
were continually shifting, and that what he said on one day
he often contradicted on the next. The fact is, that he was
singularly unreserved and outspoken, and was wont to set
down in his correspondence with his familiar friends all the
flecting impressions of an active and imaginative mind. But
on great questions of Central-Asian policy he was not incon-
sistent. The confusion was in the minds of others, not in his
own mind. He had strong opinions, which he never ceased
to express, so long as it was possible to give them practical
effect ; but, overruled by higher authority, and another course
of policy substituted for that which he would have pursued,
he consented to act, in a ministerial or executive capacity,
for the furtherance of the great object of national safety
which he believed might have been better attained in another
way. When he found that his views were not the views of
the Government which he served, he offered to withdraw from
the scene in favour of some morc appreciative agent ; but he
was told that his services were nceded, so he consented to
work against the grain.* I have already expressed my belief
&

*-Burles often stated this very dis- was King, and all this they have made
tinctly in his corresponder.ce, and was to appear in support of Shah Soojah
very anxious that it should be clearly being set up! DBut again, I did advo-
known and remembered. I give the cate the setting up of Shah Soojah, and
following, from a letter written at the lent all my aid, name, and knowledge to
end of 1839, because it is one of his doit. But when was this? When my
most emphatic utterances on the subject, advice had been rejected, and the Go-
and contains also a passage on his in- vernment were fairly stranded. I first
creased sense of responsibility, written gave opinions, and then asked leave to
in a more solemn strain than the general withdraw; but Lord Auckland proved
bulk of his correspondence: ‘' All my to me that it would be desertion at a
implorations to Government to act with critical moment, and I saw so myself ;
promptitude and decision had reference but I entered upon the support of his
to doing something when Dost Mahomed policy not as what was best, but what was

VOL. II. ~ F
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that in so doing he did what was right. Doubtless, he had
his failings, as all men have. But he died young. And I
am inclined to think that, if his life had keen spared, he would
have attained to much higher distincgion; for all that he
lacked to qualify him for offices of large rosponsibility was
a greater soberness of judgment, which years would almost
certainly have brought. As it was, few men have achieved,
at so early an age, so much distinction, by the force of their
own personal character, as was achieved by Alexander
Burnes.

best under the circumstances which a
series of blunders had produced. To
have acted otherwise must have been to
make myself superior to the Governor-
General, and 1 saw that I had a duty to
my country, ill as the representatives of
that country in India had behaved to
me, and I bore and forbore in conse-
quence. My life has been devoted to
my country; like creeping things, I
may have in the outset looked only to
personal advantages, but persons have

long since given place to things; I now
feel myself, at the age of thirty-five,
with an onerous load upon me—the holy
and sacred interests of nations; and
much as men may envy me, 1 begin
sometimes to tremble at the giddy emi-
nence 1 have already attained. In some
respects it is indeed not to be envied,
and I only hope that no passion may
turn me from the path 1 tread, and that
I may feel the awful respousibilicy
which 1 have brought upon myself.”
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CAPTAIN ARTHUR CONOLLY.

[BORN 1807.—DIED 1842.]

Ir the reader, who has followed me through the preceding
chapters, remembering what I have written about the cha-
racters and the careers of Alexander Burnes and Henry
Martyn, can conceive the idea of a man combining in his own
person all that was excellent and loveable in both, and devoting
his life to the pursuit of the objects which each in his turn
sought to attain, the image of Arthur Conolly will stand in
full perfection before him. For in him the high courage and
perseverance of the explorer were elevated and sublimed by
the holy zeal and enthusiasm of the apostle. Ready to dare
everything and to suffer everything in a good cause; full of
faith, and love, and boundless charity, he strove without
ceasing for the glory of God and for the good of his fellow-
men ; .md in little-things and in gred, in the daily interests of
a gentle life, in whxch the human affections were never
dormant, and in the stern necessities of public service, which
‘for the honour of the nation, for the good of the human race,
and for the glory of the religion which he professed and acted,
demanded from him the surrender even of that life itself,
manifested all tho noblest self-abnegation of the Hero and the
Martyr.

Arthur Conolly was the tlurd of the six sons of a gentleman,
who, in the latter part of the eighteenth century, went out to
India, made a rapid fortune, and returned to spend it in ease
and comfort at home. He was born in Portland-place, London,
in the year 1807 ; and received his education at Rugby. . He
was not much happier there than was Henry Martyn at the
Truro Grammar School. Shy and sensitive, and of a nature
too refined to cope successfully with the rough realities of

F2
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public school life, he was not happy there ; and he often spoke
in after-life of the sufferings he endured at  Mother Buck-
nell’s.” In good time, however, delivethnce came.* He was
removed from Rugby in 1822, and lent to the Military
Seminary of the East India Company. His father had large
“ interest at the India House,” especially with the Marjori-
banks family ; so in due course, one after the other, he sent
all his boys to India.

Arthur, in the first instance, was designed for one of the
scientific branches of the Indian Army, and was sent, there-
fore, to the Company’s Military Seminary. DBut whilst at
Addiscombe,t an offer having been made to him of a com-
mission in the Bengal Cavalry, he accepted it, or it was ac-
cepted for him. He left the military seminary on the 7th of
May, 1823, and on the 16th of June he quitted England in a
vessel bound for Culcutta. There was so much of incident
crowded into the latter years of his life, that it is necessary

to pass briefly over the chapter of his hoyish years.
The ship in which he sailed for India was tho Company’s

ship Grenville, which carried

* That all this made a strong im-
pression on his mind—an impression
which was never effaced —may be
gathered from a passage in a letter
which he wrote to one of his brothers
in 1840, with reference to the educa-
tion of a son: “I don’t feel anxious to
hear,” wrote Arthur, ‘ that he has been
sent to England for his education ; for,
judging by the majority of young men
who are driven through our schools and
colleges from their earliest youth up-
wards, the system of turning boys out
from the affectionately constraining in-
fluences of their own homes, ag soon ag
they can run, does not produce the most
desirable fruits. . . .. Under his first
instructors, a boy works rather from
fear than from esteem, and is prevented
from thinking for himgelf, whilst the
religion which should be his mainspring
is performed before him as a task for
mornings and evenings and twice o’
Sundays. Societies of little boys cer-
tainly teach each other the meannesses
which they would learn at home, and as
for the knowledge of the world, on which
80 much stress is laid, it is commonly
got by young men through channels
which greatly diminish the value of the

Reginald Heber, then newly

acquirition. These opinions would make
me retain a son as long as possible under
what Scripture beautifully terms ¢ the
commandment of his father and the law
of his mother,” even if his home were
in England, that he might be kept un-
spotted from the world, which is the
great thing for the happiness of this
life as well as for the next.” And he
added: “T hope he is learning to read
and write Hindustani, if not Persian.
He will find such knowledge of immense
advantage to him, if he ever comes out
here; ~d if he does not, an induction
into Oriental idioms will cnrich his
mother tongue.”

1 As this is the first mention, in the
pages of this work, of the old Military
Seminary, near Croydon, which was
once the nursery of so many heroes, I
should not have passed over it without
notice, if I bad not thought that it
would receive ficter illustration in the
Memoir which next follows. Arthur
Conolly can hardly he regarded as an
“ Addiscombe man,” as he never com-
pleted the course of education, but went
out to India with what was called. a
“ direct appointment.”
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consecrated Bishop of Caleutta, to his diocese. In those days, 1824—2'
the first voyage to India of a young writer or a young cadet
often exercised an important influence over his whole after-
career. Life-long friendships were often made or abiding im-
pressions fixed upon the mind by the opportunities of a life on
board ship. It was no small thing for a youth of sxxteen,
ardent, imaginative, with a vast capacity for good in his
nature, to sit daily at the feet of such a man as Bishop Heber.
The Bishop has recorded, in one of his letters, the fact that
when he was studying the Persian and Hindostanee languages,
“two of tho young men on board showed themselves glad to
read with him.”  Arthur Conolly was one of the two. But
he derived better Lelp than this from his distinguished fellow-
passenger. The soed of the Word, which then came from the
Sower’s hand, fell upon good ground and fructified a hundred-
fold. In a letter to a friend, Heber wrote, some five weeks
after the departure of the Grenville: ¢ Here I have an atten-
tive audience. Tho exhibition is impressive and interesting,
and tho opportunities of doing good considerable.” Among
his most attentive hearers was young Arthur Conolly, who
took to his heart the great truths which were offered to hlm,
and became from that time rooted and grounded in the saving
faith,

The first years of his residence in India did not differ greatly
from those of the generality of young military officers, who
have their profession to learn in the first instance, and in the
next to qualify themselves for independent employment. He
was attached, as a cornet, to the 6th Regiment of Bengal
Cavalry, and in 1824 and the two following years was stationed
first at Keitah, and then at Lohargong. In 1825 ho obtained
his licutenancy ; and in 1827 he fell sick, and was compelled
to obtain & furlough to England on medical certificate.

After a yoar and a half spent in Europe, he was sufficiently Overland
recruited to think of returning to India. In those days, it was Msa0
the ordinary course for an officer, “ permitted to return to his
duty,” to take a passage in a sailing vessel, steering round the
Cape of Good Hope. What is now called 'somewhat i inappro-
priately the Overland Route, was not then open for passenger-
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traffic; and if it had been, it would not have held out much
attraction to Arthur Conolly. He desired to return to India
really by the Overland Route—that is, by the route of Russia
and Persia; and, as he has himself declaryd, ¢ the journey was
undertaken upon a few days’ resolve.” ¢ Quitting London,”
he has recorded in the published account of his travels, ¢ on
the 10th of August, 1829, I travelled through France and tho
North of Germany to Hamburg, and embarking on hoard &
steam-vessel at Travemunden on the 1lst of September, sailed
up the Baltic and the Gulf of Finland in four days to St.
Petersburg.” Such is the first sentence of the two volumes of
travels which Arthur Conolly has given to the world. From
St. Petersburg he travelled to Moscow, and thence onwards
to Tiflis, whence he journeyed forward across the Persian
frontier and halted at Tabreez.

It was his original intention, after having reached that
place, to strke down thence to the shores of the Persian
Gulf, and thers to take ship for Bombay. DBut the spirit of
adventure within him grew stronger as he proceeded on his
journey, and he determined to explore at least some portions
of Central Asia. There was little known, in those days, about
Afghanistan. He might do good service by acquiring informa-
tion respecting the countries lying between Persia and India,
and it suited his humour at that time to make the effort. It
was the enterprise of the Englishman more than anything else
which carried him forward in those early days. Ho was very
young when he started on his journey. He had numbered
only twenty-two years; but he had courage and sci-reliance
of the highest order; and ever as he went, the desire to sce
more impelled him forward to new field.~of adventure. Per-
haps there was even then obscurely taking shape within him
some previsions of the ¢ great game in Central Asia,” which
he afterwards believed it was the especial privilege of Great
Britain to play.

The winter was spent pleasantly at Tabreez, where the
British Mission, of which Sir John Macdonald was then the
chief, was located ; and in the early spring of 1830, having
received good encouragement and offers of valuable assistance
from the minister, he made his preparations for a march to
Teheran, from which place he purposed to attempt a journey,
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either by way of Khiva, Bokhara, and Caubul, or through

Khorassan and Afghanistan, to the Indus. ¢ I had the good

fortune,” he said, ¢ to engage as my companion Syud Kera-
mut Ali, an unjrejudiced, very clever, and gentlemanly
native of Hindostan, who had resided many years in Persia,
and was held in great esteem by the English there. I had
afterwards much reason to congratulate myself upon having
so agreeable a companion, and it was chiefly owing to his
assistance that I safely completed my journey.”

1830

Starting from Teheran on the 6th of April, the travellers Adventur

made their way through Mazenderan to Astrabad, which they
reached before the end of the month. There Conolly deter-
mined to attempt the route to Khiva. ¢ Thinking it neces-
sary,” he said, “to have a pretence for our journey, I
assumed the character of a merchant; the Syud was to call
himself my partner, and we purchased for the Khiva markets
.red silk scarts, Kerman shawls, furs, and some huge bags of
pepper, ginger, and other spices.” This he afterwards con-
fessed was a mistake, for as he did not play the part of a
merchant adroitly, the disguise caused suspicion to alight
upon him.  What befel the travellers among the Toorkomans,
Conolly has himself narrated in the first volume of his pub-
lished narrative—how they crossed the Goorgaon and the
Attruck rivers, and rode into the desert with their pretended
merchandise on camel-back ; how they fell into the hands of
thieves, who, under pretence of protecting them, robled them
of all that they had got; how they narrowly escaped being
murdered, or sold into hopeless captivity ; and how at last
they obtained deliverance by the opportune arrival of a party
of Persian merchants, with whom they returned in safety to
Asterabad. Hoewent back 7e infectd, but he had spent nearly
a month among the Toorkomans, and had penetrated nearly
half way to Khiva, and seen more of the country than any
Buropean had seen before, or—with one exception, I believe—
has ever visited since.

the Deser

After a brief sojourn at Asterabad, Arthur Conolly, at- Meshed
tended by Keramut Ali, travelled to Meshed, by the way of Herat.

Subzawur and Nisharpoor. At the holy city he was de-
tained, money-bound, until the middle of Soptember, when
he started, in tho trail of an Afghan army under the com-
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mand of Yar Mahomed, for Herat, the Afghan city which
afterwards became so celebrated in Eastern history. Upon
all with whom he was associated there the young English
officer made a most favourable impressior, Another young
English officer—Eldred Pottinger—who visited the city some
years afterwards, found that Arthur Conolly’s name was
great in Herat, and that many held him in affoctionate
remembrance. I fell in,” says the former in his journal,
referring to tho year 1838, ¢ with a number of Captain
Conolly’s acquaintances. Every person asked after him,
and appeared disappointed when I told them I did not know
him. Intwo places, I crossed Mr. Conolly’s route, and on
his account received the greatest hospitality and attention—
indeed, more than was pleasant, for such liberality required
corresponding liberality upon my part, and my funds were not
well adapted for any extraordinary demand upon them. In
Herat, Mr. Conolly’s fame was great. In a large party where
the subject of the Europeans who had visited Herat was
mooted, Conolly’s name being mentioned, I was asked if I
knew him, and on replying, ¢Merely by report, Moollah
Mahomed, a Sheeah Moollah of great eminence, calling to me
across the room, said, ‘ You have a great pleasurc awaiting
you. When you see him, give him my salutation, and tell
him that I say he has done as much to give the English nation
fame in Herat as your ambassador, Mr. Elphinstone, at
Peshawur,” and in this he was scconded by the great mass
present.”

This was truly a great distinction for one so young; and it
was carned, not at all as some later trayellers in Mahomedan
countries have earncd distinction, by assuming disguises and
outwardly apostatising, but by the frankest possible assertion
of the character of a Christian gentleman. Moreover, he ap-

peared before the Heratees as a very poor onc. He did not go
among the Afghans as Elphinstone had gone among them,
laden with gifts; but as one utterly destitute, seeking occa-
sional small loans to help him on his way. Yet even, in these
most disadvantageous circumstances, the nobility of his nature
spoke out most plainly ; and the very Moollahs, with whom he
contended on behalf of his religion, were fain to help him as
though he had heen one of their sect. He had many warm
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disputations with these people, and they seem to have honoured
him all the more for bravely championing his faith. Young
as he was, he felt that our national character had suffered
grievously in the c‘i\_yes of the people of the East by our neglect
‘of the obscrvances of our religion. “I am sure,” he said,
“tho bulk of the Mahomedans in this country do not believe
that the Feringhces have any real religion. They hear from
their friends, who visit India, that we eat abominations, and
arc never seen to pray; and they care not to inquire more.
about us, . .. .. It is, therefore, greatly to be desired that
such translations of our Scriptures as may vite their study
should be sent among these people, in order first to satisfy
them that we have a religion, and sccondly that they may
know what our religion is; in order that they may learn to
respect us, which they do not now, and gradually to regard us
with kindlier feelings; for until they do, we shall in vain at-
tempt to propagate the Gospel among them;” and then he
proceeded to discourse very shrewdly and intelligently on
some of tho principal errors which had been committed by our
peoplo in their efforts to propagate the Christian faith—errors
principally arising from our ignorance or disregard of tho
national characters of those whom we had endeavoured to in-
struct in the truths of the Gospel. '
From Herat, Arthur Conolly proceeded, by the route of
Ghirisk, to Candahar ; and thence 'oy the valley of Pisheen, in
which he halted for some time, to Quettah, and through the
Bolan Pass to the country of the Ameers of Sindh.  He then
journeyed to Bahwulpore and across the great Indian desert,
to the British frontier, which he crossed in the month of

1830381

January, 1831. At Delhi he met the Governor-General, Retura to

Lord William Bentinck, to whom he gave an account of his
wanderings, and afierwards dropped down to Caleutta by the
river route. At the Presidency he drew up an interesting
paper on the subject of the ¢ Overland Invasion of India,”
which he printed in one of the Calcutta journals, and after-

wards appended to his published travels. In those days, a.

paper on such a subject showing any real knowledge of the
countries traversed was a novelty; but it was reserved for a
later generation to discern the large amount of sagacity that
informed it.

India,
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-83.  During the greater part of this year Conolly was employed
" in arranging the information which he had collected in the
course of his travels—work in which he was assisted by Mr.
Charles Trevelyan, then a young civilian o, high promise, who
drew up some joint reports with him, which appear to have
been prepared partly at Delhi and partly at Meerut, from
which latter place the young cavalry officer went to Kurnaul.
Even at that time it was plain that nothing had made so
« strong an impression on the traveller’s mind as the knowledge
which he had obtained of the abominable man-stealing, slave-
dealing practices of the Toorkoman tribes, and the misery
which this vile trade inflicted upon the people of Central Asia.
Ho saw, too, under what strong provocation Russia was
labouring, and how impossible it was, with any show of reason
and justice, to deny her right to push forward to the rescue of
her enslaved people, and the chastisement of the States which
had swept them oft and sold them into slavery. ¢ The case
of these people,” he said, “is deplorable, and in the midst of
that laudable sympathy which has been excited in this country
for the condition of slaves in general, it cannot he doubted
that the wretched captives who languish in the steppes of
Tartary will have their share, although their situation be un-
happily beyond the hope of relief’; and however important it
may be to check the dangerous ambition of a too aspiring
nation, humanity will be inclined to wish success to the
Russian cause, were it but to put a period to a system so
replete with barbarity as the trade in captives at Khiva,” He
was far in advance of his age when he wrote in this strain;
for it was not the fashion in those days, or indeed for more
than a quarter of a century afterwards, to look upon Russia
as any other than an unscrupulous aggressor, driven onward
by lust of conquest, and eager to-contend with England for
the mastery of Hindostan.

But the ardent philanthropist was only a regimental subal-
tern. It was soon time for Licutenant Conolly to return to
his military duties, so he rcjoined his regiment ; and, after
a while, at Cawnpore, made the acquaintanco of the fumous
missionary traveller, Joseph Wolff. ‘¢ They took sweet counsel
together, and they walked in the Houso of the Lord as
friends.” With what deep cmotion has Wolff' recorded “hix
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recollections of that meeting! ¢ From Delhi,” he says, I
passed to Agra, and thence to various places until I reached
Cawnpore, HEeRrE ] mET WitH LieuTeENANT CoNoLLy.” The
words are printed ir! Wolff’s book in capital letters, as I have
printed them here. ¢ When I travelled first in Khorassaun,
in the year 1831,” he continues, * I Leard at Meshed by the
Jews, that an English traveller had preceded me there, by the
name of Arthur Conolly. They described him as a man who
lived in the fear of God and of religion. The moment I
arrived he took me to his house, and not only showed me tho
greatest hospitality, but, as I was at that time short of money,
he gave me every assistance in his power—and not only so—
+he revised my journal for me with the most unaffected kind-
ness, He also collected the Mahomedan Moollahs to his
house, and permitted me not only to discuss with them the
subject of religion, but gave me most substantial aid in com-
bating their arguments. Conolly was a man possessed of a
deep scriptural knowledge ; a capital textuary. Various
enemies are always found to attack the lone missionary.
Nobly and well did this gallant soldier acquit himself in the
church militant, both in deeds of arms and deep devotion to
the cause of Christ.”* What Arthur Conolly on his part

* A friend who was then at Cawn- fast, ran the lesson. From Arthur

pore, writing to me of this period of
Conolly’s history, says: ... An ac-
quaintance, which ripened into mutual
regard and eateem, began in an odd way,
and was improved by an odd man. I
was very much charined with his sing-
ing, and he was taken with my playing,
on which he made the discovery that he
had never been taught, and I had never
learnt notes; and while I was indebted
to an enthusiastic bellpws-blower in
Chichester Cathedral, who, fr sixpence
a week, allowed me to operate on the
old organ therein, and used to predict
no end of future fame, he, too, had
been encouraged by some old nurse to
believe that he was a cherub, and would
beat Braham yet. The odd man was
Joseph Wolff, . ... When Wolff paid
Conolly a visit at Cawnpore, I was a
good deal with them, and joined in their
laughter. Yes, there was a good deal
of laughing. Wolff was both untidy
and uncleanly, and yet not unwilling to
be reformed, and so, at or before break-

Conolly to him: ‘ Peer Moorshid, have
we put on the clean stockings?” Then
next, ‘Have we used the sponge and
chillumchee ?' (basin.)  To all of which
Wolff would make good-humoured re-
ply, adding, ¢ Truly ye are all sons of
Fezak!” Yet there was real love in
that laughing. Wolff's love and ad-
miration of Arthur Conolly were un-
bounded. He could, too, break out into
lofty discourse, and Arthur Conolly
held his own with him. I never can
forget one Sabbath conversation on the
Jews, protracted till it was time for us
all to go to church together, when Wolff
preached on the subject—The Jews,
think how great were their privileges;
Christian Englishmen, think how great
are your privileges. When Wolff, in
after years, went to Bokhara, and spoke
of Arthur Conolly as his ‘moreed’—as I
confidently recollect he did, though I
cannot lay hold of the narrative--I feel
assured his mind often went back to
those days at Cawnpore.”

1833.
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thought of his friend may be gathered from a letter written
by him shortly after his departure from Cawnpore.  Wolff
has left us,” wrote the young Christian enthusiast on the 19th
of February, 1833, ¢ and has taken with{ him tho esteem and
best wishes of all who knew him. As you will shortly sec him
in Calcutta, I need not enter into much detail of his sayings
and doings here, but let me again assure you that he is neither
crazy, vain, nor fanatical, but a simple-minded, humble,
rational, and sound Christian. His chief desire is to preach
to all people, Jesus Christ erucified, the God, and ouly Saviour
of mankind : he is naturally most anxious that his own brethren
should turn to the light that has shone upon him, and there-
fore he seeks them in all parts of the carth where God’s wrath
has scattered them, but ever as he goes, he proclaims to tho
Mahomedan, and to the idolator, the great object of his
mission. On his opinions concerning the personal reign of
our Saviour on earth during the Millennium, I am not qualified
to pass judgment, but I believe he has chiefly formed them
upon a literal interpretation of the yet to be fulfilled pro-
phecies, especially those contained in the 72nd Psalm and tho
60th Isaiah. . . . . And after all, though he is most decided
in his creed, he says: ‘I am no inspired prophet, and I may
err in my calculations and conclusions, but the book from
which I deduce them cannot be wrong—scarch into its mean-
ings, as you are commanded, with prayer and humble dili-
gence, and then decide according to the understanding that
God has given you; I ask not that you should accept my
words, but that you should inquire diligently into those which
contain the assurance of a Dblessine to those who read and
keep them,” Rov. i. 3. If this be madness, I wish he would
bite me. In his English discourses, Wolff labours under
ignorance of idioms and select expressions, and finds difficulty
in well embodying and connecting the thoughts that crowd
upon him, yet it is always a pleasure to hear him, for often
when struggling with the words of a big sentence, he throws
out a few thrillingly beautiful expressions that give light to
the rest, and at times it is quite wonderful how he rises with
the grandeur of his theme, and finds an uninterrupted flow of
fine language. He was very clear and forcible in his exposi-
tion of the 51st Psalm, and the 9th of Acts, and the Sunday
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morning before he left us, he pr